# **Equity-Centered Thriving**

David Osher and Karen Pittman

February 2024



American Institutes for Research® | AIR.ORG

### Contents

Executive Summaryi
Introduction
Robust Thriving
Thriving is multidimensional5
Thriving is more than well-being, although well-being is essential to thriving
Thriving is not determined solely or predominantly by genetics
Thriving is culturally determined and specifically situated
Thriving is both individually and collectively embodied and experienced7
Thriving is experienced in and across all well-being domains, as well as across all the social contexts and fields that people contribute to and make meaning about
Dimensions of Thriving7
Robust Thriving From an Equity-Centered Perspective15
Robust Equity
Equity and Thriving
Why Robust Equity Advances Robust Thriving
Bringing Robust Equity to Scale
Factors and Conditions That Promote (or Constrain) Robust Thriving and Equity
Contributors to III-Being and Inequity
Contributors to Thriving and Equity
Transformative Learning Environments
The Dynamic Relationships Between and Among Robust Thriving and Equity and the Conditions That Facilitate Them
Implications and Challenges of Adopting Thriving and Robust Equity as Goals
Implications of Our Conceptualizations of Thriving and Robust Equity for Research and the Use of Research and Evidence
The Time Is Right
Conclusion
References 41
Figure: From Traditional to Expansive Definitions of Thriving, Equity, and Learning

### **Executive Summary**

Thriving and equity hold out promise for a better world, but they are stubbornly elusive goals. Efforts to achieve both have suffered from attempts to narrow, rather than expand, goals and standards. Thriving and equity are dynamically interdependent, cumulative, and culturally influenced. Our capacity to address one depends on our capacity to address the other. Interventions and decisions, however, often focus on one outcome, apply to one system, are timed for quick impact, and ignore cumulative effects. This is because conceptualizations, especially in the global North and in much of the global South, treat thriving and equity in a delimited, segmented, disciplinary-specific, ahistorical, culturally evasive, linear, individualist, and reductionist manner.

In this paper, we open a door to new thinking, research, and practice. We synthesize the scholarship across multiple disciplines and review work from indigenous scholars and community-responsive researchers and practitioners. We present expansive definitions of thriving and equity separately and in their context-dependent and dynamically interdependent wholeness. We introduce robustness into our conceptualizations of both. We further address the collective, interpersonal, and intrapersonal processes and structures that contribute to or undermine thriving and equity, contrasting expansive and narrower definitions. We summarize key points that underlie both terms and use these definitions to examine the factors and conditions that promote or constrain thriving and equity.

Our application of these more expansive definitions leads us to propose four areas for further exploration:

- Aligning frameworks and developing consensus on defining and operationalizing thriving across childhood, adolescence, and adulthood;
- Developing common indicators for thriving;
- Understanding different pathways to thriving that individuals and groups who experience adversity take;
- Examining how service systems and learning and development ecosystems can support robust equity and thriving across childhood, adolescence, and adulthood.

These four areas are critical to the advancement of new research formats and focuses to ensure that research and evidence applied in policy and practice are consistent with the expansive definitions.

Key Words: Thriving, equity, learning, race, conditions, collective identity

### Introduction

Equity in thriving has been contested in the Americas since the first Europeans arrived. Not only has equity been limited, but so has the conceptualization of what individual and collective thriving and equity are and how they can be realized. Although these challenges have always been important to those who are at the pain points of inequality, the issues are nationally salient now due to the impacts of rising wealth; continued health and education disparities; environmental degradation; and political challenges to diversity, inclusion, and equity efforts. At the same time, opportunities to change this dismal situation have burgeoned in recent decades, offering us ideas, tools, and hope for a better world. Thriving and equity are the cornerstones of these opportunities, and we explore them here.

Thriving and equity are interdependent, cumulative, culturally influenced, and capacity dependent, but thriving-related interventions and equity policies often focus on one outcome or apply to one domain at one moment in time. The results of each intervention, however, are affected by individual and collective thriving and equity in all life domains. In addition, although people need to thrive in the moment, they need to thrive throughout their life course and to be on track to do so.

There is no consensus regarding how to define and operationalize thriving and equity or how to align them. If equity in thriving is to be realized, researchers, funders, organizers, advocates, and policymakers must address the reality that dominant conceptualizations treat thriving and equity in a segmented, ahistorical, culturally evasive, and linear manner. These constricted approaches

- limit our ability to envision both positive and negative human potential;
- limit our understanding of the nature and the dynamic contexts within which people operate;
- reinforce and are reinforced by frameworks, methodologies, and research designs that limit understanding of individual and collective phenomena and behavior;
- reinforce and are reinforced by research and analysis that strip away context and sociocultural dynamics in service of generalized conclusions; and
- constrain human learning and development by focusing on organization-driven control and management concerns.

The interdependent and cumulative nature of thriving and equity (and their absence) is exemplified by the disproportionate impacts of the global climate crisis and COVID-19 on certain groups, as well as by an increasing body of evidence that well-intended but narrow approaches to education, health, and wealth inequities have not addressed chronic disparities.

The time is ripe for new standards to aspire to and benchmark against and new tools to realize these standards.

Our expansive and more inclusive conceptualizations of thriving and equity build upon those analyses as well as upon advances in the understanding of sociocultural factors and dynamic systems.

The figure below provides a visual summary of the advances that already underway in practice, policy, and public opinion to reject and move beyond incomplete individual, isolated definitions of thriving and equity and narrow definitions of learning (left column), to more innovative approaches (middle column), toward the conceptualizations recommended in this paper (right column) including the need to consider cumulative, collective impacts and adaptive ecosystem support for robust thriving and equity.





This paper employs *robustness* as a standard and epistemological tool to expand and sharpen the lenses we bring to thriving and equity. We draw upon the convergence of scientific and practice-based knowledge about how children grow and develop. This knowledge highlights the interconnectedness of social, emotional, and cognitive growth; the nuanced impact of culture and intersectionality; and the importance of relational context. We illuminate how contextual factors nourish or hinder development and how institutionalized privilege and prejudice constrain thriving and equity. We use this standard to guide our reviews of research on thriving and equity and to formulate definitions that reflect the research and challenge current practices and assumptions.

Our definition of *robust thriving* builds directly on the literature, which we review. While deepening the conceptualization of individual thriving, we also emphasize the collective and cumulative dimensions of thriving and the importance of the conditions that facilitate it.

*Robust thriving* is a strengths-based, multidimensional concept that takes people and communities on a path toward optimal development. It spans domains and emerges in the moment and over time. Thriving is more than just being competent, resilient, and without problems. Thriving involves achieving appropriately high levels of well-being, groundedness, and agency. Thriving is also inextricably linked to equity and other the conditions that support it.

Thriving is both individual and collective. A person's motivation to thrive is influenced by and influences their perception of levels of thriving in the people they identify with. Robust thriving is not easily achieved in highly inequitable environments and societies.

Our definition of *equity*, however, introduces new dimensions. We use the term "robust equity" to signal the extent of reframing needed.

*Robust equity* is a multisystemic and cumulative concept—collective as well as individual—and assessed with attention to both in the moment and over time. It sets high standards regarding what people can or do experience in varied settings, places, and times. Robust equity is embodied and realized when individuals and groups have the socially buttressed capacity to thrive in all life domains, both as socially nested individual beings and with others.

Robust thriving and robust equity are possible, but they are hard to envision and even harder to embody in societies historically shaped by inequity, ethnocentrism, individualist ideologies and mindsets, and narrow conceptualizations of life possibilities (Cantor & Osher, 2021a; Haney, 1982; Macpherson, 1989; Miringoff, 1996; Ryan, 1972). Powerful definitions of both are sorely needed. Definitions become particularly salient as we confront pressures to limit expectations in the face of the challenges created by environmental degradation, pandemics, and privilege and bias (Osher & Young, 2020).

Syntheses of convergent findings from history, sociology, neuroscience, systems theory, ecological theory, developmental science, and other fields helps us understand the multiple contexts in which robust thriving and equity can be realized. These syntheses also contribute to our understanding of the biological, neurobiological, cultural, social, emotional, and cognitive components of thriving. They enhance our understanding of the importance of meaning making and of the emotional salience of experience. These findings have been synthesized in studies related to learning and development and the cultural foundations of learning (e.g., Cantor & Osher, 2021b; Lee et al., 2020; 2024 in press; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine [NASEM], 2019).

The paper builds on this knowledge and on a broader array of scholarship and theorizing that includes the work of indigenous scholars and researchers and community-responsive practitioners (e.g., Terry Cross, Ananda Marin, Roberto Rivera). We leverage the scholarship of those who have learned with and from communities in creating or synthesizing path-breaking work—research addressing the science of learning and development and the cultural foundations of learning.

#### **Organization of the Paper**

We begin by defining and operationalizing thriving and its components, highlighting scholarship and practices that support more expansive approaches to thriving. We present our concept of robust thriving from an equity-centered perspective that emphasizes the dynamic interconnections between and among individual thriving, collective thriving, and robust equity. Our perspective addresses how these interconnections are historically nested, sociologically structured, and influenced by the dynamic interactions between and among contexts; biological, physical, social, emotional, and cognitive processes; perceptions of the self, tasks, settings, meaning making; and the emotional salience of experience (Bransford et al., 2000; Cantor & Osher, 2021b; Cantor et al., 2019; Lee, 2017; Lee et al., in press a & b; Nasir et al., 2021; NASEM, 2019; Osher, Cantor, et al., 2020).

We then describe the dynamic set of factors and conditions that enable or undermine robust thriving and equity. A Spotlight on transformative learning illustrates the applications of those factors and conditions in one domain. Finally, we conclude the paper by highlighting the research, policy, and practice implications and challenges of adopting robust thriving and robust equity as goals.

### **Robust Thriving**

We start by examining thriving because we cannot define robust thriving and robust equity meaningfully without first conceptualizing and operationalizing thriving and its components.

Thriving is a dynamic process that involves whole children, youth, and adults influencing each other in every moment as well as over time in ecologically nested contexts (Osher & Boyd, 2019). The conceptualization and dominant uses of the term *thriving* in the global North trace to important work in youth development, positive psychology, and resilience that started in the 1990s. This work was seminal and helped move research and practice away from focusing on preventing and treating problems to focusing on assets, flourishing, and resilience. Although this work was important, and to some extent "liberating," thriving approaches were often applied in narrow domains, did not focus on the link between individual and collective thriving, and did not address the realities of many who have been systemically marginalized and othered (e.g., Cueva et al., 2021; McCubbin et al., 2021; Rountree & Smith, 2016). In addition, dominant approaches to thriving did not build upon important work in the global South that focused on transformative approaches to individual and collective capacity (e.g., Freire, 1970, 1973, 1976, 1994; Nussbaum, 1992, 2003, 2006; Sen, 1992, 2009; Snauwaert, 2011).

Thriving-related research and practice burgeoned during the past two decades, and an increasing body of research highlights the links between thriving and equity. It is now time to reconceptualize thriving in a culturally inclusive manner that addresses how thriving is experienced individually and collectively, across life domains, in the moment and over time, and how it is supported or undermined within and across service systems and domains (Cantor & Osher, 2021; Cantor et al., 2021a; Lerner et al., 2019; Osher, Pittman, et al., 2020).

#### Thriving is multidimensional.

Thriving is experienced and embodied at subjective and cultural, whole-body, sociological, and historical levels and is influenced by all levels of ecological systems (Bronfenbrenner, 2005; Osher, Cantor, et al., 2020). Thriving is dynamically linked to many individual and interpersonal factors. Learning provides an example. Our health at any moment affects our capacity to learn, as do our emotions, our trust in others, and the effects that others have on us. Our capacity to learn is affected by our social, emotional, and cognitive competencies and those of our peers and teachers. While individual competencies are important, they are moderated and enabled by the conditions for learning and teaching (Osher, 2018).

Thriving is amplified or attenuated by microaggressions and/or microaffirmations (Compton-Lilly, 2020; Solórzano & Huber, 2020), economic ease or challenge, and support from social networks (John-Henderson & Ginty, 2020; Kirmayer et al., 2009; Wills & Ainette, 2012) and the bandwidth slack we have that enables us to think, be strategic, and take risks (e.g., Mullainathan & Shafir,

2013). As global warming and pandemics make palpably clear, there are inseparable relationships between and among individual, collective, and environmental thriving (Feeney & Collins, 2015; Fowler & Christakis, 2008; Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010; Izenberg & Fullilove, 2016; Landrigan et al., 2020; Pabayo et al., 2020; Ryff & Singer, 2000).

#### Thriving is more than well-being, although well-being is essential to thriving.

Earlier youth development approaches were critiqued because they did not sufficiently address the situations of people who disproportionately experience socially structured adversity and risk, although recent approaches are more likely to address these critiques (Gaylord-Harden et al., 2021; Rogers & Way, 2021). Our conceptualization of thriving includes well-being because intentional support for well-being, which is sometimes ignored in thriving-related work, is necessary to address the impacts of adversities, no matter what the cause (Task Force on Resilience and Strength in Black Children and Adolescents, 2008; Rivas-Drake et al., 2019).

#### Thriving is not determined solely or predominantly by genetics.

Genetics is not destiny (Cantor, Lerner, Pittman et al., 2021; Cantor & Osher, 2021b; Condit, 2011; Lerner & Overton, 2017). Human development represents the interconnectedness of experiences, gene expression, gene regulation, epigenetics, neurobiological and biological systems, perceptions, meaning making, and behavior. Human development takes place within dynamic social and physical ecological contexts where relationships that are culturally situated drive development.

Opportunity structures and supportive conditions enable people to meet challenges and realize their potential (Cantor & Osher, 2021a; Hugot & Davis, 2018; Osher, 2018, 2020; Witherington & Lickliter, 2017). Malleability is natural and normative. It includes biological change, as in the case of epigenetic change; neurobiological change, as in the case of how positive and negative learning are neurobiologically embodied (e.g., Cantor & Osher, 2021b; Hoban et al., 2016); conscious and unconscious human learning and adaptation (Cantor et al., 2019); and cultural production (Lee et al., 2020).

#### Thriving is culturally contextualized and specifically situated.

People thrive or languish in culturally infused contexts that affect and inform how they think, feel, and act. Contexts that promote thriving enable people to experience grounding and affirmation and think, feel, and act in healthy, productive, and mutually supportive ways. Culture is dynamic, not static, and experienced, shaped, and reshaped individually and collectively in all forms of social grouping. Most learning is shaped through culturally organized activities of daily life, and informal learning is shaped by meaning making with others who matter. This learning occurs in families and clans, socially constructed settings and spaces such as schools and youth centers, and community rituals and settings (Lee et al., 2020; Osher, Cantor, et al., 2020).

#### Thriving is both individually and collectively embodied and experienced.

People affect each other; they experience well-being and enact aspects of thriving individually, collectively, and in groups (e.g., Garcia et al., 2020; Tuason, Güss, Boyd, 2021). Examples of collective effects include disease transmission; collective support for healing; health promotion; support for people experiencing stress; and social networks that allow people and groups to grow. We experience the importance of collective thriving when people who are dear to us are ill or when organizations that are important to our life or work are compromised.

## Thriving is experienced in and across all well-being domains, as well as across all the social contexts and fields that people contribute to and make meaning about.

Thriving develops and is realized through dynamic two-way processes. These include how individuals and groups make sense of their experiences; how thriving and risk are amplified or attenuated in different contexts and times (Cantor et al., 2019, 2021; Lerner et al., 2015; Osher, Cantor, et al., 2020; Spencer & Swanson, 2016; Subica & Link, 2022); how risks and assets affect net results; and how individuals and group members can positively and negatively experience and contribute to what is experienced (Spencer et al., 2019).

This richer, high-level reconceptualization of thriving sits on top of numerous efforts to define the specific components of thriving. Our review identified three key dimensions of thriving, which can be used to group the multiple mechanisms and their indicators that contribute to thriving (Osher, Cantor, et al., 2020; Osher, Pittman, et al., 2020). We address those next.

#### **Dimensions of Thriving**

Thriving is more than the absence of ill-being or problems or the development of basic competencies; thriving is a dynamic holistic process that involves children, youth, and adults influencing each other in every moment and over time (Benson & Scales, 2009; Gestsdottir & Lerner, 2007; Kendziora & Osher, 2016; Lerner, 2004; Lerner et al., 2003). People and their communities individually and collectively learn, develop, and thrive in and across three interactive dimensions: (1) multifaceted *well-being*; (2) *groundedness* in self and community; and (3) *agency* that equips people to address challenges and improve their and others' lives.

• Well-being: Experiencing and feeling physically, emotionally, and intellectually safe and fulfilled. This includes how well people and communities are doing—physically, environmentally, mentally (including emotional and spiritual well-being), and having the resources to meet needs.

- **Groundedness:** Feeling connected, rooted in time and place, and knowing who you and your families, clans, and communities are—including individual and collective awareness, identities, belongingness, spirituality, cultural rootedness and senses of meaning, purpose, and civic engagement.
- **Agency:** Having the social and emotional competencies, intellectual skills and knowledge, and beliefs and habits of mind that equip you and people connected to you to meet life's demands and challenges, and to work individually and collectively to promote thriving.

The dimensions of thriving and the components of each dimension are dynamically linked, mutually reinforcing, and both individual and collective. We present the dimensions separately for heuristic purposes and because they are conceptually distinct and because they have mostly been studied as distinct mechanisms or outcomes.

#### Well-Being

Well-being has physical, mental, emotional, psychological, spiritual, cognitive, social, environmental, and economic dimensions. Individual well-being is affected by the well-being of others with whom individuals interact, particularly in routine and repeated ways. The wellbeing of groups depends on the well-being of the individuals who make up the group, as in the collective benefits of universal vaccination versus the spread of an epidemic.

**Physical and Environmental Well-Being.** Physical and environmental well-being (or the lack thereof) also affects cognitive, social, and emotional development, experiences, and outcomes (Chaddock-Heyman et al., 2014; Dipietro et al., 2019; Falck et al., 2019; Liao et al., 2015; Pascoe & Parker, 2019; Reed & Ones, 2006; Salmon, 2001; Weiss et al., 2012). As the benefits of conservation and the challenges climate change and pandemics illuminate, the physical health and well-being of all living things and the planet are intertwined.

Access to physically and emotionally safe environments, quality health care, green space, and safe and nurturant recreational opportunities fosters physical and emotional well-being (Bratman et al., 2019). Economic inequality and racism undermine wellbeing (e.g., Bogan et al., 2022) both by what they contribute to (e.g., environmental pollution and racial stress) and what they minimize (e.g., access to green space and quality health care (Needleman et al., 2002; Paradies et al., 2015; Rigolon et al., 2018). Addressing these well-being facilitators improves well-being. For example, experimental research indicates that green spaces can support mental health and reduce violence (Moyer et al., 2019; South et al., 2018).

**Mental Well-Being.** Mental well-being includes the psychological ability to engage in productive activities and fulfilling relationships and to adapt to change and to cope with adversity (Preboth, 2000). Mental wellness, abilities, and expectations are culturally situated,

experienced, defined, and exhibited (Immordino-Yang & Gotlieb, 2017; Satcher, 2001). Mental well-being builds on physical, economic, and spiritual well-being (Park, 2005; Scales, 2014; VanderWeele, 2017). Psychological, social, and emotional well-being are all part of mental well-being and are affected by positive relationships with others, connectedness, life satisfaction, hope, and optimism (Giroux, 2010; Keyes, 2002, 2005, 2007; Marques & Lopez, 2014; McInerney, 2009; Sapp & Cohen, 2019; Shek et al., 2016; Snyder et al., 1991).

Mental well-being is not the absence of mental illness; in fact, mental well-being can co-exist with mental illness (Keyes, 2005, 2013; Keyes & Waterman, 2003). Nonetheless, mental wellbeing is undermined by aversive experiences with others in unsupportive environments and by life stresses such as economic worries or a family member's illness.

While safe and supportive relationships at home, school, and in the community are primary drivers of mental well-being, mental well-being and thus thriving is also supported by access to promotive, preventive, treatment, and palliative interventions (Coleman et al., 2022; Heumann, 2020; Osher et al., 2014).

Interventions should be personalized, strengths building and strengths based, consumer driven, and culturally and linguistically competent (e.g., Francis & Osher, 2018; Kendziora et al., 2001; McCammon, 2012; Osher & Osher, 2002; 2004; Turner & Mueller, 2021; van Agteren et al. 2021). It is critically important to address young people's trauma and mental health needs and to do so in a healing-oriented and capacity-building manner that supports caregivers, staff, and peers that youth interact with (Ginwright, 2018; Osher et al., 2021). Untreated and poorly treated individual mental health problems cascade throughout the life course and affect family members, teachers, friends, classmates, and others (Leone et al., 2002; NASEM, 2019; Osher, Quinn, et al., 2002).

**Economic and Material Well-Being.** Economic and material supports include wealth, income, public social benefits, and social networks and resources. These supports foster well-being by reducing stresses and providing access to activities that are palliative and/or promote mental well-being (e.g., personal trainers). Economic well-being includes being able to meet basic needs, absorb financial shocks, build financial assets, and access necessary resources throughout life. While economic well-being is experienced by individuals, families, and communities, it is affected by public policy (e.g., tax policy) and systematic factors (e.g., institutionalized racism (Council on Social Work Education, 2016; Hahnel et al., 2022; Osher et al., 2022).

Poverty and inequality create stresses that drive long-term ill-being through physical and neurobiological change (e.g., canalization) and through limited access to quality care (Blair & Raver, 2012; Wilkinson & Pickett, 2007a, 2007b, 2008). Economic and social inequality can

undermine thriving by limiting access to the array of experiences and opportunities that contribute to social, emotional, academic, and behavioral health (Osher, Cantor, et al., 2020; Osher & Chasin, 2016; Rothstein, 2004; Spencer & Swanson, 2016).

Thriving-oriented responses to adversity should include individual and collective solutions that enable people to draw upon their social networks, spiritual and cultural resources, and other assets to buffer the effects of material ill-being and injustice (DiMaggio & Garip, 2012; Duncan & Brooks-Gunn, 1997; Ebersöhn, 2012; Ginwright, 2015; McGee & Spencer, 2015; Miller-Cotto & Byrnes, 2016; Neblett & Carter, 2012; Ortega-Williams et al., 2018; Rivas-Drake & Marchand, 2016; Wang & Benner, 2016).

#### Groundedness

Grounding is experiencing connectedness and feeling anchored by knowing who you and your groups are, the roles that you play, and the purposes you can fulfill. People develop groundedness in relation to other people and groups with whom they share statuses, memberships, geographies, and histories. Being grounded also involves understanding and being positively anchored and enriched by shared cultural, spiritual, and environmental connections (e.g., Cohen, 2020; Tarr et al., 2014; Turner, 2020).

**Identity.** People have multiple identities. Identity formation is a socially and culturally situated, dynamic interpersonal process influenced by micro and macro factors (Greenhow & Askari, 2015; Kerpelman et al., 1997; Stevenson, 1997; Verhoeven et al., 2019). Identity development is ongoing; it includes defining oneself in relation to friends, classmates, coworkers, teammates, and people who share common values, experiences, and statuses. Identity development is also affected by sociocultural factors such as language, oral histories, books, music, and art. Identity builds on our unique individual and collective experiences in the physical and social world and the sense we and others make of these experiences, particularly when we share them with people or groups that matter to us.

While identity develops across the life span, adolescence is a particularly key developmental period (Hoffman, 2018; McAdams & Cox, 2010; McAdams & McLean, 2013; McLean & Pratt, 2006; Nagaoka et al., 2015; National Research Council [NRC], 2011). Identity encompasses self-identities (how we define and understand ourselves as individuals and as members of our groups) and social identities (statuses and roles, both chosen and ascribed) in relation to other people. There are multiple and often intersectional elements of identity—including but not limited to gender, sexual, racial, ethnic, cultural, religion, and disability (Crenshaw, 2017; Hernández-Saca et al., 2018; Rogers et al., 2015; Spencer, 2017).

Emotionally and identity-safe environments support identity development and contribute to both well-being and thriving (Rivas-Drake et al., 2019; Rivas-Drake & Umaña-Taylor, 2019;

Salinger & Osher, 2018; Steele & Cohn-Vargas, 2013; Swanson et al., 2002; Verhoeven et al., 2019). We develop our sense of self in interaction with others and groups. For example, interactions between and among youth and adults support identity formation and provide opportunities to test and receive feedback on emergent identities (Harrell-Levy & Kerpelman, 2010).

Healthy identity development is particularly important for young people who are marginalized and colonized and who consistently face microaggressions, overt prejudice, and acculturative stress (Crocetti et al., 2008; Jagers, Rivas-Drake, & Williams, 2019; Rivas-Drake et al., 2019; Rivas-Drake & Umaña-Taylor, 2019). Efforts to promote thriving should provide experiences that promote positive senses of self and of ethnic identity, racial identity, and bicultural identity, which also serve protective purposes (Jagers et al., 2019; Miller-Cotto & Byrnes, 2016; National Scientific Council on Adolescence, 2021; Rivas-Drake, Seaton, et al., 2014; Rivas-Drake, Syed, et al., 2014; Rivas-Drake et al., 2019; Rivas-Drake & Witherspoon, 2013; Safa & Umaña-Taylor, 2021; Umaña-Taylor et al., 2014).

**Meaning, Purpose, and Spirituality.** Our sense of meaning involves our ability to understand our history and life circumstances, to be aware of our motivations, and to feel that our life and group memberships are important (Martela & Steger, 2016). A sense of meaning serves to both promote and protect well-being (Dulaney et al., 2018; Halama & Dedova, 2007; Kiang & Fuligni, 2010). For individuals, a sense of purpose can contribute to physical and mental health, reduced risk behaviors, increased prosocial behaviors, goal-directed orientations, hope, positive affect, and happiness. It also serves to buffer against adverse circumstances (Burrow & Hill, 2011; Burrow et al., 2010, 2018; Machell et al., 2016). Thus, there are multiple connections between meaning and purpose and thriving.

Religious identity or participation and spirituality can provide sources of self-images, as well as role models, ideals, world views, and meaning—all of which support identity and youth development. Spirituality can include engagement with what we and others believe is sacred as well as bonding with others through shared religiosity or religious history (Eliade, 1959; Kim & Esquivel, 2011). Spirituality also includes beliefs and connections with our inner selves and others, including in our past and future and/or transcendent experiences (Saroglou, 2011). Religious participation and spirituality support well-being through emotional and psychological health and educational and civic benefits. Religious and spiritual growth can be fostered by supports across one's social ecology (Barry et al., 2010; Kim & Esquivel, 2011).

**Civic Engagement.** Civic engagement includes participating in and contributing to the school and community, including activism and organizing (Ginwright, 2007; Lee, White, & Dong, 2021). It supports identity development and the development of skills, social capital, and feelings of purpose and meaning (Lerner, 2004; Michelsen et al., 2002; Sherrod & Lauckhardt, 2009).

Equity-focused civic engagement must address how citizenship has been historically constructed and contested in the United States as well as how citizenship is experienced in everyday life (Banks, 2017; Foner, 2013; Molina, 2014). These civic challenges, which rest on generations of policies of structural and systemic racism (e.g., Brundage et al., forthcoming), range from denial of the right to vote and being othered, caricatured, or symbolically marginalized in ritual and narratives (Cummings, 2019; Osher, 1992; Phillips, 2022; Powell & Toppin, 2021). Political othering is particularly salient as youth develop meaningful civic identities. While youth often experience disrespect and challenges to their autonomy, the challenge is pronounced for youth of color who are demonized, surveilled, punished, and experience and witness micro- and macroaggressions directly in their daily lives. These hurtful experiences and the sense youth make of them shape their civic engagement or disengagement as do opportunities to develop critical perspective at home, at school, or in the community (Hope & Spencer, 2017; Spencer et al., 2015; Osher, 2015). For example, Black youth engage more civically and politically when they have a broad, structural understanding of why inequities exist, not just a belief that the system is unfair and the government is biased against them (Ginwright, 2010a, 2010b; Heberle et al., 2020; Stevenson et al., 2005).

Meaningful engagement requires shifting power and voice from adult-centric decision-making models to approaches that actively embrace youth perspectives. When this happens, youth develop a greater sense of belonging, greater knowledge of decision-making processes, and increased capacity and confidence in promoting change (Bartlett & Schugurensky, 2021). Providing equitable and inclusive opportunities for young people to engage in shaping their classrooms, schools, and organizations helps realize these goals (Mayo & Osher, 2018; Noguera et al., 2013).

Civic engagement exemplifies how the dimensions and components of thriving fuse in life and practical experience. For example, civic engagement builds and leverages transformative social and emotional skills and collective efficacy. Collective action provides an outlet for grief and contributes to healing, particularly when organizers purposively attend to healing through the development of collective hope, self-care, and agency (Gibbs, 2020; Ginwright, 2006; Ortega-Williams et al., 2018). Collective action and organizing can build and build off a sense of community and common history among youth and adults and leverages as well as develops analytical and group-related skills. Together, these opportunities build social capital and a repertoire of experiences and skills that can support well-being, groundedness, and agency in the future (Bartlett & Schugurensky, 2021; Cohen & Sapp, 2019).

#### Agency

Agency includes a sense of individual and collective efficacy (Bandura, 2000; Bandura et al., 1999; Rodríguez-Sánchez et al., 2021; Watson et al., 2001) and the grounded belief of

individuals and/or group members that they can act on the world because they have already done so successfully and/or they have the skills and capacities to take on challenges.

Agency is both attitudinal and skill based. The attitudinal component is related to individual and collective social, emotional, cognitive, and technical skills and competencies that support a sense of efficacy when they are understood and adaptable. Fungible competencies enable people and groups to work in solidarity to address challenges, navigate social contexts, develop social capital, and work with others to address individual and collective problems.

**Social and Emotional Competencies.** Social and emotional competencies include individual and collective skills and dispositions that help people understand and manage their emotions and relationships. They involve understanding and managing selves, understanding and handling interpersonal and group relationships, and solving and addressing problems in a culturally and situationally competent manner (Casillas et al., 2022; Cipriano et al., 2023; Jones & Kahn, 2017; Mahoney et al., 2021; Osher et al., 2016). Social and emotional competencies are developmental and malleable, with major windows of opportunity for development occurring during early childhood, adolescence, and adulthood.

Approaches to supporting the development of social and emotional competencies have changed. Social and emotional learning (SEL), the dominant approach in the United States, provides an example. Until recently, most SEL advocates defined equity as equitable access to SEL programming and only infrequently addressed equity concerns. Its uptake often focused on compliance and culturally bounded approaches. For example, a comparative analysis of the 136 frameworks for developing youth social and emotional capacities (Berg et al., 2017) determined that most frameworks did not explicitly address privilege, bias, and cultural competency.

The frameworks also failed to address the disconnect between individualistic approaches to SEL and collectivist cultural strengths. In contrast, the ethnic-specific and disability-driven frameworks reviewed addressed privilege and cultural competence as well as how culturally and linguistically diverse parents, families, tribes, and groups promote healthy development (e.g., Jagers, Williams, & Osher, 2019; San Pedro, 2021; Vizenor, 2009). These gaps are starting to be addressed by transformative SEL approaches through which youth and adults build healthy relationships founded on an appreciation of similarities and differences; learn to critically examine root causes of inequity; and develop collaborative solutions to community and social problems (Jagers, Rivas-Drake, & Williams, 2019; Rivas-Drake et al., 2019). A Spotlight on transformative learning explores this issue in more depth.

**Cognitive and Intellectual Contributors.** Cognitive skills, competencies, capacities, and accumulated experiences can be liberatory (Hammond, 2021; Rincón-Gallardo, 2019) and equip

individuals and group members with tools to support them in navigating and resolving challenges. For this to happen, though, people need higher order cognitive skills and the ability to use the skills critically and reflectively. They also need to develop metacognitive and related socialemotional competencies to harness these skills. Thriving and robust equity require transformative skills and knowledge.

While the development of these foundational skills and experiences is important, opportunities to develop them are not frequently available to students who face social and economic disadvantage and who often experience a compliance-oriented pedagogy of poverty (Fataar, 2012; Haberman, 2005, 2010). All learners can benefit from stimulating environments that allow them to individually and collectively explore, muse, and express their ideas in different ways—inspiring opportunities that are all too infrequently available due to resource constraints or deficit-based mindsets (Brookhart, 2013; Daniel, Quartz, & Oakes, 2019; Hernandez et al., 2019; Osher & Young, 2020; Qualifications and Curriculum Authority/Department for Education and Employment, 2000; Tsai, 2012).

Cognitive and intellectual contributors to agency and thriving include deeper learning, metacognition, and creativity, which have individual and collective components.

*Deeper Learning.* Deeper learning involves active engagement that allows young people to continuously explore, critically reflect on content, and understand and produce complex thought and models (Mehta & Fine, 2019; Noguera, Darling-Hammond, & Friedlaender, 2015). Deeper learning can build off and improve social and emotional competencies and transformative learning experiences (Quinn et al., 2019). Deeper learning develops higher level and cognitive processing, analytical and critical thinking, and the ability to synthesize and interpret diverse information. It also enhances ability to communicate knowledge and apply skills and knowledge in new circumstances. Deeper learning stands at variance to surface learning and drill-and-kill instruction that draw upon lower-level cognitive functions, such as simple memorization or rote learning (Craik & Lockhart, 1972).

*Metacognition.* Metacognition, the ability to think about one's learning and thinking, is not just individual; metacognition involves individual and group reflection and self-assessment (Hogan, 2001; Schuler, 2015). Peers can support each other's abilities to be metacognitive (Andersen, 2004; Chiu & Kuo, 2009). The capacity to plan, monitor, regulate, refine, and adapt one's learning and performance is fundamental to leveraging opportunities and skills (NRC, 2000).

Metacognition facilitates effective learning and project work, helps individuals and groups prevent mistakes and learn from their experiences, and aids them in applying knowledge to new situations, and supports neural integration (Bransford et al., 2000; Marcovitch & Zelazo, 2009; Malone & Bernstein, 2022; Müller et al., 2008). Conditions and strategies that facilitate

metacognition enable learners to reflect individually and collectively about their thinking and learning. This includes how well they are learning and developing necessary skills, how their learning is influenced by their affective states, and how new knowledge fits into or challenges their existing knowledge (Clark, 2009; De Corte, 2003). Metacognition is facilitated by selfawareness and the ability to regulate emotions, particularly the ability to stop and think about how one's positionality and emotions affect one's thinking and actions in a particular situation and to cognitively control for the effects of these cultural, positional, and emotional biases (Chick et al., 2009; Greenberg, 2006; Sanchez et al., 2019).

*Creativity.* Creativity involves complex, multifaceted, and dynamically interactive (i.e., coinfluential) processes that can be fostered and realized in all life domains and disciplines (Cachia et al., 2010; Glăveanu, 2014, 2015; Lai & Viering, 2012; Lucas et al., 2012; Treffinger et al., 2002). Creativity is not an individual trait or an a priori stable property of only special people (Moran & John-Steiner, 2004). Rather, creativity is individual and collective, is malleable, and can be developed (Csikszentmihalyi, 1996; Sternberg, 1995).

Creativity involves cognitive skills, dispositions, social and emotional competencies, and strong conditions for learning and creativity (Immordino-Yang, 2016; Lai & Viering, 2012; Lave, 1988; Lucas et al., 2012; Osher et al., 2017; Simonton, 2000; Sternberg, 2006; Wenger, 1998). For example, originality often involves perspective taking, the willingness to pursue ideas that others do not promote, and the ability to assess which ideas are worth pursuing. Creativity, like deeper learning, involves risk taking and the ability to handle failure and can be affected by the same factors that affect deeper learning (Hammond, 2014, 2021). Further, creativity can have collective components that enable individuals with complementary skills to create a common understanding that none of them had previously had or could have developed on their own (Reiter-Palmon & Paulus, 2020; Schrage, 1990).

#### **Robust Thriving From an Equity-Centered Perspective**

Thriving is the product of dynamically interactive connections between and among people and contexts. Robust thriving acknowledges these connections and their centrality to robust equity—connections that require us to emphasize the whole over subsets of the parts. We offer five key points that illustrate the importance of the whole and can help offset the temptation to pick and choose thriving dimensions.

#### Robust thriving depends on ecological assets.

Ecological assets, which include social support, prevent or mitigate adversity and its effects (Bethell et al., 2019; Gartland et al. 2019; Traub & Boynton-Jarrett, 2017)—reducing netadversity, net-vulnerability, and net-victimization. They help people navigate harsh circumstances; the logic of the modifier "net," is key to understanding and addressing adversity (Spencer et al., 2015; Spencer et al., 2019).

#### Robust thriving builds as well as builds upon assets that prevent or buffer risk.

Earlier scholarly discourse about thriving often separated risk-based prevention approaches from asset-based approaches. Our approach aligns the two by leveraging Spencer's conceptualization of *net* adversity and risk and by incorporating additional research on resilience that emphasizes the importance of social support (Osher, 2006; Spencer et al., 1997). Risk exists and is socially structured and inequitably and disproportionally experienced (Kendziora & Osher, 2004). The assets people have and develop, both collectively and individually, function as prevention factors by averting or buffering the experience of risk and its effects.

### *Expansive and all-inclusive approaches to robust thriving address the social and cultural dimensions of thriving, which are often neglected or underemphasized.*

Thriving (and the lack of it) can best be understood from three perspectives that can be aligned (Osher, Pittman, et al., 2020; Lee et al., in press, b; Spencer et al., 1997, 2020): (1) phenomenological perspectives that focus on how people experience actions and environments, (2) relational developmental perspectives that focus on dynamic bidirectional processes, and (3) bio-ecological perspectives that focus on the dynamic links between whole people and ecological systems longitudinally.

Although thriving is linked to a person's individual characteristics, thriving is not just a product of individual characteristics. Thriving is affected by external conditions and experiences (Boyd et al., 2022; Osher et al., 2014; Spencer et al., 2015). The social component of thriving is important because people are influenced by and influence other people and the social and cultural contexts they encounter. Relationships with other individuals and in groups support thriving through multiple mechanisms (Barnhart et al., 2022; Chamizo-Nieto et al., 2021; Yoon, 2022).

## *Equity-centered thriving strategies minimize adversity and address its effects in a healing manner.*

Most adversities are socially created or situated, and the ease with which individuals can address adversity is socially structured. (For example, poverty can contribute to a learning disability, and it affects the resources available to families to address the disability). Under the right conditions, some people can thrive with adversity and/or develop new capacities by addressing adversity. Still, eliminating socially created adversities and averting and mitigating environmental adversities enable people to realize their full potential more easily. Taking action to prevent adversity and address its oppressive roots supports well-being while cultivating groundedness and agency in the face of oppression (Ginwright, 2015; Rivera, 2021).

### *Robust thriving is inextricably linked to subjective and objective conditions including opportunity structures and resources.*

Although subjective and phenomenological factors are important in promoting thriving and equity, robust thriving is constrained or enabled by the social structuring of opportunity and access to material and human resources that are unequally available. One reason why thriving depends upon equity is that a lack of necessary material resources constrains or undermines thriving (e.g., Osher & Chasin, 2016)

The sidebar, "How Social Structures Promote and Undermine Opportunity" elaborates on the last two of these five points.

#### How Social Structures Promote or Undermine Opportunity

The social structuring of adversity and opportunity should be examined and addressed in all domains. We use health as an example. Although access to physically and emotionally safe environments, quality health care, and safe and nurturant recreation opportunities fosters physical and mental health, access to these opportunities is unequally available. There are social determinants of health disparities, which particularly involve economic inequality and racism (Carter & Reardon, 2014; Lee & Ahn, 2012; Paradies et al., 2015; Subica & Link, 2022).

The mechanisms through which the social determinants work include micro- and macroaggressions, housing insecurity and homelessness, mass incarceration and the problematic policing of communities, food deserts, and poor schools and transportation (e.g., Massey & Denton, 2019). The resulting health disparities reflect human-made environmental toxicities (e.g., lead effect and poisoning; Needleman et al., 2002) and prejudice-related stresses. Disparities also reflect limited access to quality care and the related dependence on constricted, aversive, disaffirming, culturally inappropriate and iatrogenic interventions and how individuals and group members experience and respond to pervasive racism-related stress during the life course (e.g., Chae et al., 2021; Paradies, et al., 2015; Upshaw et al. 2021).

The task of overcoming adversities constrains what individuals and groups can do. Resilience takes a toll, whether it be the mental health impacts of racism-related adverse childhood experiences or cumulative inflammation and allostatic load effects of racism-related stress (Bernard et al., 2021; Jones et al., 2020; Seaton et al., 2022) or depleting emotional and cognitive reserve to deal with stereotype threat, microaggressions, and culturally demeaning environments. Although persevering and overcoming disadvantaging challenges can strengthen people, the biological toll of having to overcome disadvantage can be dear (e.g., allostatic load).

The capacity to thrive is affected by the conditions that support or undermine its development. While individual social, emotional, and cognitive assets are important and should be nurtured, these assets are insufficient; in addition, the development of individual assets (e.g., deeper learning) is affected by conditions that can be fostered, enhanced, or built. Although the five points we discussed are simple, their intellectual roots are complex.

Our paper reflects efforts to bridge and transcend multiple factors that affect the nature of growth in life and how to support healthy development throughout the life course. The differences between transformative and traditional thinking about learning and development, stated bluntly, include the following:

- Relational ontologies that connect the mind, body, spirit, and environment and whole person approaches in contrast to dualism that separates mind, body, and environment.
- Expansive conceptions and assumptions regarding universal human potentiality and malleability that focus on talent development and growth as opposed to restricted conceptions and assumptions regarding human potentiality that focus on fixed traits and genetic determinism.
- Dynamic ecological approaches that address complex systems in contrast to viewing and addressing people, settings, and problems in a linear static manner that ignores context.
- Attending to heterogeneity of contexts and effects and contextualized individualized trajectories through person-centered approaches as opposed to privileging variable-centered approaches that focus primarily on main effects and averages.
- Culturally responsive and humble approaches that address racism, colonialism, and privilege rather than racial and cultural neutrality and ignoring privilege.
- Collaborative, community-building, restorative, and healing approaches to creating productive environments rather than top-down leadership, management, and control.
- Consumer-driven approaches that support people, fix systems, address root causes, and focus on continuous improvement rather than professional- and agency-driven approaches that fix and blame people, tinker around the edges, and evaluate summatively.

These tensions and others are embodied in conceptual and methodological debates (e.g., Goffman, 1961; Immordino-Yang et al., 2023; Lee et al. in press, b; Osher & Osher, 2002; Ryan, 1972; Valencia, 2012, 2019). They affect the willingness and ability to create supportive conditions for thriving and equity, as well as the willingness to eliminate conditions that undermine thriving and equity. We discuss these conditions in the next section.

#### **Robust Equity**

Our robust conceptualization of thriving supports a robust conceptualization of equity. This is important for two reasons:

• The term "equity" has been used in different and contradictory ways.

• Equity has been generally defined in a constricted manner and operationalized with low standards and a narrow reach.

Here we dive into how equity has been viewed, how it is often conflated with equality, and its relationship to thriving. We move on to offer a new conceptualization—robust equity—to address historical problems and suggest a way forward.

Equity has been treated in two fundamentally different ways. One approach views equity mechanistically as formalistic fairness. William Ryan (1982) characterized this approach as *fair play*. Fair play has been operationalized as formal equality at the starting line and formally equal treatment (e.g., color- or gender-blind approaches that ignore the impact of privilege). Fair play approaches do not address the fact that people arrive at the starting line with different socially created resources and the effects of privilege, which influences who gets to the starting line, how ready they are, and whether their ability to "run the race" is affected by resources that are not formally provided, as when affluent parents employ private tutors or create enrichment opportunities for their children.

The second approach conceptualizes and operationalizes equity and fairness differently. This approach addresses the short- and long-term individual and collective impacts of success, as well as the conditions for success (e.g., opportunity standards). This approach also attends to talent development, objective and subjective outcomes and indicators, and how opportunities support groundedness and agency (e.g., culturally affirming student-driven opportunities to learn).

The different implications of these two approaches to equity are culturally and historically situated in the nation that sociologist Herbert Gans in 1968) described as "an unequal society that would like to think of itself as egalitarian" (p. xi).

The implications of the bifurcated approaches cannot be fully appreciated without deeper understanding of our country's historical notion of *equality*, which the term *equity* was and is often conflated and contrasted with. The need to address equality is rooted in contestations in the United States from its colonizing beginnings, when Indigenous Americans, enslaved Black people and freemen, women, and people without property were subjected to domination, expropriation, exploitation, shaming, and exclusion. In the face of that oppression, these groups found ways to challenge injustices and create spaces for cultural nurturance and cultural resistance (e.g., Camp, 2004; Givens, 2021; Muñoz, 2007; Rawick, 1972). As organizers and advocates, they leveraged the fact that (using the language of W. E. B. Du Bois's *The Souls of Black Folks*, 1903) their oppression is "a flat contradiction" to American "beliefs and values." Deconstructing the term "equality" is important in our current context, where fair play approaches can be co-opted perniciously, as in the use of "fairness" to challenge the rights of transgender people or equity-oriented policies—challenges based on accusations that these equity-oriented efforts do not treat everyone equally.

Du Bois's language was part of a push and pull between oppression and attempts to envision, embody, and work for freedom, equality, and equity. Like other social justice advocates he appropriated and extended the meaning of political statements and principles such as the Declaration of Independence's assertion that "all men are created equal" and "that they are endowed . . . with certain unalienable Rights, that among these are Life, Liberty and the pursuit of Happiness." Although the Declaration's authors did not apply this logic to women, Indigenous Americans, Black people, or to those who were not Christian or were poor, equality (not necessarily equity) became fundamental to the "American creed." This creed created what Swedish economist Gunnar Myrdal characterized as "an American dilemma" in his 1944 study subtitled "The Negro Problem and Modern Democracy."

This dialectic of democratization was not new . Tocqueville noted in his 1835 book, *Democracy in America* (2003), that "equality of condition is the fundamental fact from which all others seem to be derived" and that "the gradual development of the principle of equality is, therefore, a providential fact." Although political and social reality contradicted these optimistic observations (and Tocqueville called out the contradiction), the "American creed" provided ethical and ideological grounds for demanding change. For example, the 1848 Seneca Falls Declaration and Sentiments appropriated the 1776 language and declared, "We hold these truths to be self-evident: that all men and women are created equal," and Martin Luther King invoked the 1776 Declaration in his "I Have a Dream" speech.

Partial success in the struggle for democratization was (in Sam Cooke's words) "a long time coming," and when success did come, it was formal legal equality (sometimes incorrectly conflated with equity) grounded in the fifth and 14th amendments to the U.S. Constitution.

Operationalizing equity was and is harder than gaining formal equality and the lack of substantive equity has limited the impacts of the legal victories. For example, the standard used to operationalize equal protection of the law in education was equal access to what others received, not to quality education and services. Further, institutionalized privilege subverted or limited the victories, for example, by creating all White private academies, using exclusionary discipline, and moving with all but the "deliberate speed" mandated by the Brown decision (Bell, 2008; Peltason, 1971).

#### **Equity and Thriving**

Inequity systematically and dynamically constrains thriving, whereas thriving leverages, promotes, and enables equity. We need a richer conceptualization of equity that extends beyond narrowly defined indicators, modest standards, and/or just eliminating access disparities. The richer view of equity attends to individual and group effects in the moment and longitudinally. It also addresses multiple factors that contribute to disparities and oppressive policies and practices (Brown & Homan, 2022; Gee & Hicken, 2021; Powell, 2009; Stone et al., 2018).

Although equity decisions often focus on narrow outcomes or outcomes in one domain or system, the results of these decisions are not limited in that way. These narrower outcomes affect and are affected by individual and collective thriving and equity status in other dimensions. Impacts occur across domains, within the moment, during the short and medium term (Gee et al., 2019), over the long term, and have even multigenerational consequences that involve the accumulation and reproduction of risks and assets (Dixon-Román, 2013; Gadsden & Dixon-Román, 2017; Machlup, 1976; Walter, 1973). For example, the inequity-driven social determinants of ill-being have consequences for students' opportunities to learn, and income inequities drive financial and emotional stress of parents and educators that also affect children's learning (Bottiani, et al. , 2019; Harms & Garrett-Ruffin, 2023; Osher et al, 2022). Research, policy, planning, and monitoring should address cross-system and domain effects.

## Robust equity can be conceptualized and defined as the ability of people and groups to thrive, both in the moment and over time, across all of life.

Our expansive conceptualization of equity—robust equity—is more than equity in one domain or equalized odds for success between specific groups or equity in mediocre outcomes (e.g., surface learning or even access to higher order learning opportunities that do not foster engagement, curiosity, wonder, and critical thinking). Robust equity in each domain is expansive and attends to both the individual and collective dimensions of thriving.

Robust equity intentionally interrogates and counters inequality, institutionalized privilege, and contextual deficits. It studies and/or promotes contextualized and targeted universal approaches that support well-being and equity for everybody (Farmer et al., 2022 ; Powell, 2009; Powell, Ake, & Menendian, 2019). Equity-supportive conditions provide opportunities for people, including people who experience privilege, to build connections, perspectives, and competencies that can transform their lives. Robust equity efforts address psychologically and materially oppressive conditions. The conceptualization of robust equity includes ensuring that people most excluded from power and resources have access to and create for themselves

processes to thrive, grow, and have voice in naming their realities to develop solutions that draw upon and build their strengths.

Robust equity expands current notions of equity as follows.

#### Robust equity is more than formal and de jure fairness.

Equity has been traditionally treated as the condition of fair and just opportunities for all people to succeed regardless of individual or group identity or differences. This definition remains important. Fairness has been operationalized in judicial decisions challenging *de jure* segregation, as well as in important state and national legislation. It has enhanced opportunities for members of many groups. Treating equality and fairness this way, however, does not address the tentacles and resonances of institutionalized racism and privilege. Dr. King made that point when, during the 1968 Memphis sanitation workers strike (Honey, 2011), he rhetorically asked, "What does it profit a man to be able to eat at an integrated lunch counter if he doesn't earn enough money to buy a hamburger and a cup of coffee?" (King, 1968).

Although fairness is important, when operationalized as formal equality, fairness can be coopted to serve inequality and inequity. The U.S. Supreme Court did this when it legitimated segregating approaches (*Plessy v. Ferguson*, 1896). The "long southern strategy" did this by characterizing federal entitlements as unfair persecution of White Americans (Maxwell & Shields, 2019). White-dominated educational systems employed fairness backed by raceneutral approaches and meritocratic claims to undercut integration by displacing Black educators; segregating students to tracking and, in some cases, special education; and by their use of zero-tolerance and exclusionary discipline (Fenwick, 2022; Ferri & Connor, 2005; Oakes, 2008; Osher et al., 2022).

## *Robust equity in each dimension is expansive and addresses both the individual and collective dimensions of thriving.*

This expansiveness involves thriving's multiple subdimensions (e.g., agency + identity + sense of purpose and meaning + spiritual grounding). Robust equity-oriented strategies systemically consider and address factors that enhance or limit equity ecologically—macro, societal, cultural, system, agency, meso-systemic, group, or provider-level factors, as well as whole individuals.

## *Robust equity has subjective and material components, both of which relate to thriving.*

Reverend King's lunch counter metaphor can be extended to address the taste of the hamburger, its nutritional quality, and the experience of eating it at the lunch counter—and, although equity has an important material component (e.g., the ability to buy the hamburger), it has subjective elements as well (e.g., experience at public establishments, Stevenson, 2014).

To draw on a suffragette song that immigrant women organizers appropriated in the Lawrence strike, fairness and equity involve both "bread and roses" (Forrant et al., 2016; Osher & Young, 2020; Robbins, 2012). Material resources—the ability to access the bread and eat it—are important to survival and provide a base for equity, but equity also involves the culinary equivalent to roses—food that is nutritious and a social, emotional, and physical environment that is nurturant.

The subjective elements of equity have been enacted and embodied in fugitive spaces that people create within oppressive conditions. Black educators, for example, found spaces where they could legitimately or covertly ("fugitive pedagogies") educate Black students under segregation, for example, by creating safe and supportive conditions to work together for change and to help define it (Givens, 2021; Walker, 2000). Indigenous and other culturally marginalized families create analogous spaces when and how they transmit and help sustain their historic culture (e.g., Douglass & Umaña-Taylor, 2015; Jagers, Williams, & Osher, 2019; San Pedro, 2021).

#### Robust equity is individual and collective.

Equity is often treated in individual or aggregate ways that do not address how individuals affect each other or contribute to each other's equity and to their own equity. Policies that pursue equity materially without addressing aspects of people's lives that enable them to survive and even thrive may undermine equity by undercutting important existing social networks and social capital. Beyond material resources, robust equity includes supporting families and clans, not just children or adults.

#### Robust equity is cumulative.

Mechanistic approaches to equity often assess equity or target shorter term outcomes but they ignore sleeper and fade-out effects of interventions (Van Aar et al, 2017) as well as the impacts of equity (and of inequity) over the life course and over generations. When research and policy narrowly focuses on the short term, it missesthe ripple effects of what was done in the short term. Mechanistic approaches ignore what we now know about the individuality of development, the multiple paths to desired outcomes (Rose, 2016), and the importance of how people experience interventions.

The value of taking a long-term perspective has been demonstrated in many arenas (Osher, Cantor, et al., 2020). Experience with educational debt (Ladson-Billings, 2006; Milner, 2012); wealth accumulation (Carter & Reardon, 2014); intergenerational implications of housing segregation and redlining (Charles, 2006; Hagerman, 2020; Pais, 2017); and mass incarceration (Wildeman & Wang, 2017) illustrate the problems with narrowly focused short-term solutions. These examples demonstrate life course and intergenerational impacts on ill-being. They can be contrasted with the transformative life course and intergenerational impacts of the 1940s GI Bill for white veterans and their families who did not have to navigate redlining and housing and education discrimination (Katznelson & Mettler, 2008).

## Robust equity depends on supportive conditions, including access to safe and affirming resources and opportunities.

Supportive conditions provide safety, connectedness, affirmation, resources, and opportunities. To maximize their use and retention, opportunities and services must be available and perceived and experienced as being helpful, useful, and respectful. Consumer-driven planning and monitoring, design research, and user-centered redesign can improve service participation and outcomes, particularly when support is provided to build staff motivation and capacity to be empathic, consumer driven, and culturally responsive (Kendziora et al., 2001; Lyon & Bruns, 2019; Suter & Bruns, 2009).

#### Why Robust Equity Advances Robust Thriving

Robust equity creates conditions that support thriving, and it demands attention to standards and relationships required for robust thriving to be achieved and sustained.

## *Robust equity creates conditions that operationalize equal access, participation, and outcomes for everyone.*

These include universal design and collaborative and community-based research to address the impacts of institutionalized prejudice and privilege robust equity includes fairness by

- transforming societal structures, systems, rules, practices, and cultural narratives to provide meaningful fairness;
- building on knowledge that people cannot thrive unless they are able to name and address their realities, articulate how systems of oppression play out, and actively contribute to solutions that draw upon and build their assets;
- ensuring that distribution of resources and opportunities is neither determined nor predicted by ascribed status, bias, or demonizing ideology; and
- employing targeted universalism (Perry, 2020; Powell, 2009) and culturally responsive consumer-driven (as opposed to agency-driven) planning and evaluation strategies (Barajas-López & Ishimaru, 2020; Osher & Osher, 2002).

## *Robust equity thinking and action lead to, necessitate, and require high success standards—not just basic, minimal, or mediocre standards.*

The standard of success should be good for broad and comprehensive in a particular area or subdomain (e.g., literacy), going beyond simple proficiency or surviving. Thriving is affected by conditions that build and support individual and collective capacities and buffer against

conditions that inhibit capacities. Hence, robust equity entails high standards for the conditions that support its attainment.

### *Robust equity addresses the dynamic relationships between and among privilege, prejudice, opportunity structures, identities, and hegemony).*

Realizing robust equity necessitates addressing and countering the conditions and effects that reproduce inequality and ill-being (Clark et al., 1999; Dixon-Román, 2017; Subica & Link, 2022; Thorius & Tan, 2016) including identities, motivations, and behavior (Bourdieu, 2018; Osher, 2015; Spencer, Fegley, & Harpalani, 2017). Strategies must be implemented in a manner that addresses intersectionality, competing oppression, and the capacity of people to grow and heal (Ginwright, 2015, 2018; Goldenberg, 1978; Tefera et al., 2018).

### *Robust equity requires active engagement in addressing and eliminating conditions that contribute to inequity and ill-being.*

Although it is important for people who have power and resources to appreciate the importance of robust equity and to support it in policy and practice, they must learn from and collaborate with those most affected by inequity. Previous examples in this paper illustrate these points. Engaging as well as being engaged by the intended beneficiaries of equity interventions helps avoid the pitfalls of narrowly conceived and poorly designed interventions. Organized end beneficiaries can identify material and subjective experiences that must be addressed, while helping avert what are often mischaracterized as "unanticipatable consequences" of interventions (Merton, 1968; Newman et al., 2022).

## Robust equity requires affirming, nurturant, and transformative ecosystems of learning and development that support youth and adult thriving.

These ecosystems create learning environments that provide active engagement in deeper learning and the critical analysis of texts, media, and proposals to address educational, social, and political issues and policies relevant to learners. (Alim et al., 2020). Building equitable and liberatory ecosystems for learning requires conditions that support emotional and identity safety, conditions that are also necessary for creating inclusive deeper learning opportunities (Hammond, 2021). This in turn calls for trauma-sensitive, culturally affirming learning environments that address how identity and power play out in settings and groups (Boyd et al., 2022; Gutiérrez et al., 2017; Osher et al., 2021). Staff in these environments employ approaches that are community responsive and include culturally sustaining, asset-based teaching (López, 2017; Matthews & López, 2019; Paris & Alim, 2017) and restorative approaches to building caring, inclusive, learning communities (Gregory et al., 2016).

#### **Bringing Robust Equity to Scale**

Bringing robust equity to scale requires addressing the root causes and systemic factors while avoiding distractions (e.g., Gorski, 2019; Gregory et al., 2021; Osher et al., 2015). Scaling equity also involves drawing upon the lessons of implementation and improvement science, which include developing individual and group readiness and capacity to implement interventions, change practices, and participate in transformative activities (Boyd et al., 2022; Butler et al., 2018; Fullan et al., 2023; Gomez, 2023; Osher, 2018). Addressing robust equity necessitates focusing on systems and processes, not just on individuals, and addressing multiple systems and layers of privilege and oppression. It also demands collaborative planning and monitoring that anticipates situations that people mischaracterize as "unanticipated consequences," as well as strategies to counter color, cultural, and historical evasive policy and practice (Ko et al., 2021; Newman et al., 2022).

Lastly and importantly, scaling robust equity includes engaging and being engaged by people who are closest to pain points that span bureaucratic and disciplinary silos and doing so in a manner that supports youth, family, and community-driven leadership. To maximize the likelihood this happens, research, as well as policy, planning, and monitoring, must be community responsive and address the conditions for thriving and equity, including the quality of human interaction and immediate as well as longitudinal cross-domain and system effects.

The next section provides some guidance on pitfalls and opportunities for bringing robust equity to scale.

### Factors and Conditions That Promote (or Constrain) Robust Thriving and Equity

Thriving occurs, develops, and is expressed or undermined through human action in dynamic local conditions. Local conditions in turn reflect culture and conditions that are dynamically linked to broader ecological systems (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Moen et al., 1995; Osher, Cantor, et al., 2020; Ryan 1972). These factors play out in contexts that can enable or disable thriving, depending on whether they are strengths based, capacity focused, and culturally responsive and implemented with respect and attention to individuality (McKnight & McKnight, 1995; Osher, Cantor et al., 2020; Spencer et al., 2019; Weist et al., 2019).

#### **Contributors to Ill-Being and Inequity**

Thriving and equity depend on addressing systematic processes of structuring relationships, distributing resources, and administering power, and eliminating factors and conditions that undermine people's ability to thrive (e.g., Dawes, 2020; Gregory et al., 2021; Osher et al., 2022). Hurtful macro factors include institutionalized racism, privilege, and related adverse

circumstances, all of which influence and reinforce each other (Bowleg, 2020; Méndez et al., 2020; Mendoza et al., 2020; Metzl, Piemonte, & McKay, 2021; Stasiulis et al., 2020) and drive, for example, poor environmental conditions, inadequate transportation, unsafe neighborhoods, underfunded schools, and lack of healthy food and safe recreational options (Dawes, 2020; Osher et al., 2022). Other harmful factors are embedded in more molecular social systems such as inadequate and unsafe housing and how tax and welfare policy influence family structure and dynamics; and still others are interpersonal or intrapersonal, such as the impact of adverse childhood experiences. All, however, co-act and contribute to unhealthy individual and collective lived experiences.

Opportunities to thrive are not systematically available, and even well-intended services can lead to ill-being and inequality. Organizational, interpersonal, and intrapersonal ingredients contribute to this toxic mix. Organizational factors include inter- and intra- agency fragmentation; cultural and linguistic incompetence; stigma; and deficit-oriented, victim blaming, provider-driven policies and practices (Artiles et al., 2010; Bal, 2016; Osher & Hanley, 1996; Osher, Williamson, et al., 2019). Faced with these conditions, service recipients understandably respond aversively or internalize negative identities (Farmer et al., 2022; Spencer et al., 2015) that set up vicious cycles such as school suspension and its consequences (Gregory et al., 2021; LiCalsi et al., 2021; Okonofua et al., 2016; Osher et al., 2004; Stevenson, 1997; Welsh & Little, 2018; Yeager et al., 2017). These cycles contribute to and reinforce educational, health, and economic disparities (e.g., Riddle & Sinclair, 2019).

As undermining factors are malleable and addressable (Cantor & Osher, 2021a), it is important to build upon, as well as build, individual, community, and systemic assets to address opportunity deficits and disparities at the policy, system, program, and community levels. These assets must include the ecological conditions that foster thriving and equity.

#### **Contributors to Thriving and Equity**

Robust approaches to thriving and equity require removing and preventing environmental pollutants and toxicities while simultaneously supporting the physical and emotional well-being of every member of a social ecosystem. These more expansive approaches address the well-being of students, family and clan members, everybody in the neighborhood where people live, and all members of the organizations or groups in which people participate.

The proximal conditions for thriving are in primary systems, including home, school, and community settings (Osher et al., 2014, 2017). Although children and adolescents learn and develop across all social fields (Lewin, 1939; Rogoff et al., 2016; Spier, Gonzalez, & Osher, 2018; Spier, Leenknecht, & Osher, 2018), we will for brevity spotlight schools and community learning settings, highlighting the supports that are provided to foster thriving (Rivera & Arauz, 2019).

We center on these settings because they are relatively universal and resonate through the life courses of individuals, families, and communities (Akiva & Robinson, 2022; Osher et al., 2014).

#### The Positive Youth Development Movement: A Shift in Thinking

The positive youth development (PYD) movement found scholarly currency in the 1990s as an effective complement to prevention-only approaches to improving life outcomes of youth who are at risk (Pittman, 2000; Pittman & Irby, 1996). A report from the National Research Council (Gambone, Klem, & Connell, 2002; NRC, 2002) summarized the research on the personal and social assets that facilitate PYD and identified conditions that promote those assets: physical and psychological safety; appropriate structure; supportive relationships; opportunities to belong; positive social norms; support for efficacy and mattering; opportunities for skill building; and integration of family, school, and community efforts.

The NRC's recommendations prioritized investments in community-based settings that have stronger ties to youth, family, and culture as an effective way to address inequities experienced in schools and other systems. The recommendations also laid the groundwork for the development of the Interagency Working Group on Youth Programs, which promotes the use of the PYD approach across all federally funded programs and has identified common thriving indicators across multiple service domains and related life domains (Katz et al, 2022). PYD uptake, while seen in the proliferation of full-service or community schools, has not deeply penetrated many schools approaches to teaching and learning.

Learning opportunities and systems play key roles in promoting or undermining the life course of individuals and groups (Osher et al., 2014). The broad conceptualizations of thriving and robust equity suggest that school and community learning opportunities and services should support

- whole-child well-being and equity;
- individual and collective groundedness;
- transformative individual and collective competencies; and
- the individual and collective well-being, readiness, and capacity of the adults who support children and adolescents.

#### **Transformative Learning Environments**

Transformative learning environments build and optimize individual and collective social, emotional, and cognitive competencies and capacities. They develop competencies, skills, and attitudes and provide transformative experiences that students and educators can use to transform their own lives, contexts, and communities. Transformative competencies include empathy, compassion, perspective taking, and critical thinking (Osher et al., 2021; Science of Learning and Development Alliance, 2020).

Transformative learning environments extend deeper learning opportunities to include transformative SEL, critical thinking, and collective analyses of the root causes of issues that concern students. Transformational environments center opportunities that are often treated as "extracurricular" or as "add-ons." These opportunities include aesthetic, expressive, creative, and kinesthetic opportunities; design thinking (Darling-Hammond et al., 2021; Greene, 1995; Halverson & Sawyer, 2022; Southworth, 2022). Transformative learning environments and pedagogies build as well build upon and support learner and teacher strengths and well-being. They are culturally affirming and emotionally and identity safe. They are collaborative rather than competitive and focus on capacity, mastery, and excellence.

Transformative learning requires that pedagogies and approaches emphasize the development of psychological, social, and intellectual assets over rote learning and scripted performance. Learning opportunities develop enhanced senses of self and others and build portable skills, competencies, and experiences that learners can use alone and in interaction with others. Transformative learning opportunities embody agency, community, and the practice of freedom—not passivity, competition, or compliance. Transformative learning environments build academic skills while engulfing students by fostering curiosity, critical thinking, metacognition, and the capacities to work with others in solving tough problems and disagreements. At the same time, these environments provide opportunities for the experience of connectedness, wonder, and awe, along with senses of purpose, responsibility, and agency.

#### Spotlight:

#### Transformative Learning That Supports Robust Thriving and Equity

Transformative approaches to learning (e.g., transformative approaches to SEL and trauma) address healing and need while nurturing and embodying individual and collective capacity, agency, and groundedness. We review three components that promote and support transformative approaches and then offer some learning-centered foundational principles that are particularly relevant to schools.

*Thriving-oriented opportunities to learn.* Thriving-oriented opportunities to learn are linguistically and culturally competent. They include meaningful, not mechanistic, approaches to rich learning opportunities; instructional supports; and quality instruction over a sufficient duration (Darling-Hammond, 2020; Elliott & Bartlett, 2014; Kurz et al., 2014; Porter, 2002). Thriving-oriented pedagogies employ emotional, relational, cognitive, and identity processes and build upon (as well as build) educator cultural social and emotional capacity and cultural competence. These competences enable teachers to connect with each student individually, to know and expand zones of proximal development, to create culturally responsive and affirming classroom learning communities, and to generate rather than undermine learning vectors (Doyle, 1977, 2013) that engage students emotionally, cognitively, and socially (Doyle, 2006; Milner, 2013, 2021; Osher et al., 2010, 2012).

Time spent learning in transformative environments encompasses much more than time on task or behavioral engagement as educators maximize the time students spend emotionally and cognitively engaged in learning, working in groups, and thinking critically. Transformative environments eliminate exclusionary discipline (LiCalsi et al., 2021; Okonofua et al., 2020; Osher et al., 2022) and supportively prevent chronic absenteeism by improving conditions for learning and providing routine access to school and community supports for students (Chang et al., 2019; Gregory et al., 2021).

Relationship-rich settings build supportive, trauma-sensitive, and culturally responsive classroom and school conditions for learning and development (Berg et al., 2017, 2022; Cohen et al., 2019). These conditions reflect and contribute to dynamic interactions among everyone in these settings. Organizational culture; the physical environment, including the presence or absence of green space; the supports available to youth and adults and the way in which these supports are organized; and the social and emotional conditions for learning and development, are all conditions for thriving.

**Conditions for learning and development that support thriving.** Schools are emotional, high-stakes, and often high-stress environments. Conditions for learning include those aspects of setting, school, and classroom climate that are proximally related to learning and development. Conditions for learning and development that promote thriving in the face of unjust contexts actively engage youth in examining and addressing disparities. These include youth-led research, creating and assessing procedures that foster predictability and safety (e.g., setting rules, boundaries, and expectations), and relational and restorative approaches to discipline (Cammarota & Fine, 2008; Ko et al., 2022). Actively involving youth nurtures agency while respecting their needs to experience voice and autonomy.

The conditions for learning and development, each of which has complexity and nuance, include the following:

- Safety. Physical, emotional, and psychological identity and intellectual safety (Cohen et al., 2019; Hammond, 2014; Osher & Kendziora, 2010; Osher et al., 2018). Safety includes the presence or absence of stereotype threat, microaggression, and bullying, and their impacts. Safety is enhanced by the comprehensive supports provided to students (Osher et al., 2008; Osher, Cantor, & Caverly, 2019).
- **Connectedness.** Belonging, membership; feeling part of a warm and caring community that is culturally inclusive and one that embraces, values, and addresses diversity among individuals and groups and their families (Walton & Cohen, 2007).
- **Support.** Instrumental and emotional support for learning and development, availability of effective practical support, experiencing the support of having developmental relationships with adults and peers and experiencing all adults as caring and supportive.
- **Challenge.** The experience of personally relevant learning, developing expectations, and receiving support to realize those expectations, which includes the academic "stretch" youth experience; an emphasis on mastery and intrinsic motivation rather than performance and extrinsic motivation; student agency in experiencing learning as engaging; receiving timely, helpful, and affirmative feedback; and experiencing learning and development as relevant to the current and future lives.
- Peer and adult social and emotional competence. Individuals' social and emotional competencies function as conditions for learning for other members of the community, both individually and in aggregate (Garibaldi et al., 2015; Osher et al., 2014).

• Cultural competence and responsiveness. A set of congruent behaviors, attitudes, and policies that enable adults and youth to work effectively (ideally proficiently) in bicultural and multicultural interactions and for youth and their families to experience respect and humility, as well as emotional and identity safety (Darling-Hammond et al., 2020; Francis & Osher, 2018; Gay, 2010; King et al., 2007).

These six conditions dynamically interact, work together, and affect youth identity, civic engagement, and thriving (Barber et al., 2021; Catalano et al., 2004; McNeely et al., 2002; Osher & Kendziora, 2010; Ruus et al., 2007; Shochet et al., 2006). Supportive conditions for learning are particularly important for children and youth who face hurdles, whether the hurdles are developmentally normative, such as transitions between types of schools, or socially created adversities, such as homelessness (Lester & Cross, 2015; Nott & Vuchinich, 2016).

Addressing barriers to learning in a supportive and affirming manner. Many students face barriers that limit their opportunities to learn in general, learn in certain areas, or realize their full potential. It is important to address these barriers, but this must be done in an affirmative strengths-based and strengths-building manner. Many barriers are institutionally constructed, are stigmatizing, and produce experiences of othering among marginalized groups of students. These hurtful experiences diminish students' capacity and their motivation to demonstrate their full potential in schools—the places where learning should happen (Powell & Toppin, 2021). School-based student supports and opportunities should actively engage youth in activities to counter these inequities including opportunities for meaning-making and civic engagement regarding educational inequities (Riveros & Immordino-Yang, 2021).

Individual support should focus on whole people, always with an eye on learning, development, and equity. Needs may be physical, financial, social, emotional, or educational and are best addressed through coordinated and aligned multitiered interdisciplinary approaches. Support should be strengths based, personalized, culturally competent and youth- and family driven. Support should never be stigma priming or disabling (Goffman, 1963; McKnight, 1976). Rather, support should intentionally build as well as explicitly build upon individual, group, family, and community strengths—always doing this in a culturally affirming and capacity-building manner that considers students' specific contexts (Adelman et al., 2019; Osher et al., 2004; Osher et al., 2018; Salinger & Mayer, 2019).

*School-Centered Foundational Principles to Promote Thriving and Equity.* A coherent schoolwide foundation is key to a multitiered approach to thriving and equity (Fullan & Kirtman, 2019; Osher et al., 2018) and should be enriched to provide universal supports to meet the needs of the school's student population (Yu & Cantor, 2014). This enriched foundation prevents the frustrations that come, for example, when students need to fail before they receive services (Salinger & Mayer, 2019). It also minimizes the time, connections, and learning that are lost when students are pulled out of classes or must take time off from school to receive services. In addition, universal approaches minimize the stigma, learned helplessness, and self-fulfilling prophecies that can accompany an intervention (Salinger & Osher, 2018). A solid foundation makes it easier to get services to students who are at greater levels of need, and focused and targeted interventions work better when they are grounded on a universal base (Clawson & Wu, 2019; Osher et al., 2004).

Universal design, targeted universalism (Powell, 2009), and strategies such as team teaching and crossage peer tutoring help improve equity and minimize the needs for more focused interventions. Universal design addresses learning variability by building a universal foundation that includes creating social, emotional, cognitive, and academic curb cuts that eliminate barriers for students succeeding in inclusive environments and the general curriculum (Hitchcock et al., 2002; Williamson & Osher, 2018). Examples of a universal foundation include well-designed curricula and pedagogy; transformative SEL and restorative practices, such as daily class meetings; equity-oriented approaches to behavioral supports; supportive environmental design; home visiting; and ongoing training and support for all adults in the school community, including families. The universal foundation can support more intensive and personalized interventions and build staff capacity to select and employ culturally competent interventions that are family driven, centered on, and guided by the voices of learners (Bradshaw et al., 2019; Clawson & Wu, 2019; Kendziora & Schaffer, 2019; Osher, Cantor, Caverly, 2019).

# The Dynamic Relationships Between and Among Robust Thriving and Equity and the Conditions That Facilitate Them

The importance of multiple ecological conditions to thriving is not a new idea. For example, a 1998 research synthesis found that "participation of multiple community forces, persons, organizations, and sectors, serve as important protective factors across multiple domains of child and adolescent health." Based on these findings, the authors recommended avoiding "silver bullet" approaches "that focus on" a smaller number of assets that regression analyses suggest have predictive utility (Leffert et al., 1998, p. 226).

Subsequent research provides additional support for five propositions that relate to supporting robust thriving and equity:

- Assets are individual and collective, cumulative, and dynamically linked to each other and to robust thriving and equity.
- Developing personal and collective social, emotional, cognitive, and cultural assets matters.
- How these assets are developed is equally important. This includes how people are supported, how that support is experienced, and how contextual conditions and factors affect asset development.
- Although all assets are important, ecological assets that promote well-being, groundedness, and agency are particularly important in countering the cumulative impact of contextual toxicities and eliminating them is particularly important.

We conclude this section by reviewing the cumulative implications of the dynamic links between individual and collective thriving, robust thriving and robust equity.

The directional relationship between inequity and ill being at one end and individual thriving is straightforward and intuitive. Inequity related to sustained or acute limitations on access to supports and opportunities does not make it impossible for individuals to thrive, but such limitations do make thriving more difficult.

The directional quantitative relationship between thriving and equity is less intuitive but no less important. It requires understanding the intersection between individual and collective thriving. Equity affects not only the well-being, groundedness, and agency of individuals in a group but also the group's ability to lift its individual members.

The phrase "a rising tide lifts all boats" is a metaphor that illustrates the cumulative impact of collective thriving increases in individual well-being. It further suggests the effect that the level of collective thriving can have on individual assessments of their level thriving in different communities, cultures, or groups facing the same equitable or inequitable circumstances. Other things being equal, higher levels of collective thriving should increase individuals' senses of groundedness and agency, making them more resilient in the face of individual obstacles and more resourceful in the face of individual opportunities. This interaction between individual and collective thriving should also make individuals more likely to contribute to improving conditions in their community. This is the hallmark of robust thriving.

Robust equity takes the relationship further by dynamically factoring in the broader conditions that affect people's lives and contribute to short- and long-term outcomes. Robust equity cannot be achieved without attention to those broader conditions that affect both thriving and equity; hence, standards for thriving are incorporated into the definition of robust equity. These standards necessitate addressing nonquantitative dimensions of equity and inequity, which have often been ignored.

The subjective impacts of oppression, inequity, and injustice have been described, for example, as double consciousness (Du Bois, 1903; Fanon, 1970) and "the hidden injuries of class" (Sennett & Cobb, 1993). Transformative learning and development opportunities that emphasize affirming meaning-making, identity, and agency help people both deal with subjective assaults while working with others to understand and address the factors that contribute to the subjective assaults.

#### Implications and Challenges of Adopting Thriving and Robust Equity as Goals

The historical moment necessitates and offers a unique opportunity to critically examine dominant conceptualizations of thriving and equity and their use in research, policy, monitoring, and intervention. We have sufficient evidence from research and practice to broaden our conceptualizations of thriving and robust equity and to inclusively enhance their cultural competence. We know enough to examine and address thriving and equity in relation to each other and in relation to learning and development. Reconceptualizing thriving and equity will help develop more strategies and approaches to address structures and processes constraining them and to construct and nurture pathways to promote them.
Our reconceptualization of thriving and equity has implications for what researchers, policymakers, funders, and practitioners should do or avoid doing when designing, implementing, learning from, and building upon research. These implications apply to design and implementation of research agendas and data collection; how and where the data are collected, analyzed, and synthesized; how findings are interpreted, communicated, and translated into practice; who participates in each activity; and whose voices shape these processes (Mills, 2000; Philip et al., 2018; Rogers, 2019).

Robust thriving includes healing from and being resilient in the face of trauma and adversity and doing so in a manner that fosters groundedness and agency as well as well-being (Ginwright, 2018; Osher et al., 2021). At the same time, equitable opportunities to thrive require eliminating conditions that undermine thriving and establishing opportunity structures that address the impacts of adversity and provide equal access to environments that support thriving (Cantor et al., 2021; Ellis & Dietz, 2017;Osher, Pittman, et al., 2020; Spencer & Spencer, 2014; Spencer et al., 2020).

Interventions that focus on learning and well-being should center robust thriving and equity. This does not mean ignoring consequences of the burdens created by environmental toxicities and inequities. It means that the effects of these ills must be addressed in an affirming manner that builds agency and does so in alliance with those who directly experience the painful impacts of injustice and inequity (Duncan-Andrade, 2022; Garcia et al., 2020; Ginwright, 2015). For example, Smith and Smith Lee (2020) have developed an approach that identifies the breadth and nuance of adversity experienced by black youth; develops assessments incorporating lived experiences; uncovers effects of adversity while recognizing the resilience of youth; and centers youth voices as counter narratives to deficit-based research and practice.

Moving from an individualist and psychological approach to thriving is important because, although individuals and groups actively shape their history, they do so through culturally and historically situated pathways that influence and constrain choices. It is consequently important to attend to the development of individual skills and competencies, but it is also important for researchers, policymakers, and practitioners to attend to the collective nature of these processes and to the systems and conditions that constrain or enhance learning and development.

This structural focus is particularly important because many people live within contexts marred by colonialization, institutionalized privilege and prejudice, and economically unjust practices. These adversities impose excess risks, stresses, and demands (Gaylord-Harden et al., 2018; NASEM, 2019; Spencer & Swanson, 2016), which can lead to trauma and toxic levels of stress that constrain thriving. Although individuals and groups develop and draw upon collective mechanisms to overcome these assaults (e.g., Cross, 1998) and socially created or amplified adversities, we still must target these adversities. The root causes of risk must be understood and addressed with attention to sociocultural dynamics and contexts, including the assets and strategies that individuals and groups employ to survive or even thrive in harsh environments (Gaylord-Harden et al., 2018; San Pedro, 2021; Spencer et al., 2020).

### Implications of Our Conceptualizations of Thriving and Robust Equity for Research and the Use of Research and Evidence

Although sufficient knowledge exists about thriving and robust equity to support policy and practice, researchers have an opportunity to add nuance and extend understanding to address, for example, ecological and social validity of findings, the specificity of effects, and how research findings are applied and supported on the ground (Cantor & Osher, 2021a, 2021b). Expansive conceptualizations of thriving and equity, advances in our understanding of sociocultural and historical processes, and our increased awareness of bioecological processes and systems should inform thinking and action. This includes developing and designing research agendas; the type and sources of data selected; how and where the data are collected and analyzed; how findings are specified, bounded, and synthesized; and how findings are communicated and translated into practice. Careful consideration should be made as to who participates in each activity and whose concerns and voices inform and shape them.

Recent publications offer some guidance by identifying research needs and questions that align with richer conceptualizations of thriving and equity (e.g., Cantor & Osher, 2021b; Lee et al., 2021, in press b; Nasir et al., 2021). For example, the 2023 and 2025 volumes of *Review of Research in Education* address the dynamic complexity in education research; incorporating multiple ways of knowing and diverse forms of evidence in reviews; how thriving can be addressed in the design of academic learning; and what special roles schools and out-of-school settings play to maximize opportunities for thriving in the face of challenge (Osher et al., 2021).

In this section, we suggest and elaborate upon four timely and important areas for exploration:

- Aligning frameworks and developing consensus regarding defining, conceptualizing, and operationalizing thriving across childhood, adolescence, and adulthood
- Understanding different pathways to thriving that individuals and groups who experience adversity take
- Developing common indicators for thriving
- Examining how equity-infused transformative approaches to learning, youth development, and support promote thriving and robust equity

## Aligning frameworks and developing consensus regarding defining, conceptualizing, and operationalizing thriving across childhood, adolescence, and adulthood.

The urgency to address inequity and promote thriving and robust equity warrants leaving disciplinary silos in favor of sustained collaboration that includes indigenous scholars, scholars and scholarship from the global South, and researchers with lived experiences with inequity and injustice (García-Carrión, 2023). Collaborations can align frameworks and identify common indicators-- accelerate the accumulation of knowledge, multisystem data collection, and use and improve practice.

There are many frameworks and many more measures in disciplines and research domains (e.g., Berg et al., 2017), and it will be challenging to align research grounded in different ontologies and epistemologies. Measurement alignment should be rigorous, consilient, and address biases that have been baked into frameworks and measures (e.g., Dixon-Román et al., 2020; Osher & Cantor, 2021a). The process to create consilience should avoid easy consensus and jingle-jangle effects that occur, for example, by clustering conceptually distinct or incompatible elements (Dang et al., 2020). Although aligning current data systems is important, it is also important to include new measures and data elements. These measures and elements should be more culturally inclusive and competent and address intersectionality, the individuality and collective nature of thriving, and how learning, resilience, and thriving vary across individuals and groups over time and across places (Marin, 2020; Nesselroade, 2019).

# Understanding the different pathways to thriving that individuals and groups who experience adversity take.

We need to know more about thriving in all its diversity. We should seize opportunities to build upon syntheses of research to better identify and understand the conditions that facilitate thriving for diverse individuals and groups in diverse contexts. For example, how are issues of racialized status, ethnicity, immigrant status, gender identity, disability, sexual orientation, and experiences of poverty addressed on the ground and taken up in studies of resilience? What does thriving look like in marginalized communities; what do positive development and adaptive collaboration look like in harsh contexts; and what are the types of cultural resources that individuals, families, clans, and groups draw upon to nurture and sustain thriving?

Most current knowledge is a product of analyses that do not examine those complexities or the multidimensional nature of development (Lee et al, in press, b). We need to collect and analyze data differently. We must address the dynamic individuality of human development and intersectionality of experience that occurs within ecologically nested, culturally rich, relational contexts.

Our current knowledge is largely based on intervention studies that insufficiently attend to heterogeneity of effects and the specificity of outcomes and contexts. Other knowledge relies on cross-sectional analyses that are not sufficiently nuanced to attend to how people experience and make sense of their lives. We can start to improve our understanding about how to promote thriving and equity by (1) employing or at least including idiographic approaches in our research (Lerner & Bornstein, 2021; Yu et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2022); (2) collaboratively involving families, youth, and practitioners in research design and implementation; (3) addressing the rich dynamic ecological factors that influence the outcomes we discern; and (4) including meaningful longitudinal length in research designs. This research should address the specificity of effects and how to understand these effects within different local ecologies.

Addressing complexity is no small order but is important. Given the multiplicity of factors that influence development, addressing complexity is necessary no matter what the domain. Education and economic development provide examples of how these approaches can help us learn more about the nature of thriving and equity in relation to learning. They can address such key questions as "How do we increase research on effective interventions and programs for improving education and employment outcomes for young adults who are disconnected (not working or in school) and have disabilities and chronic health conditions?" (NRC, 2015, p. 9) and "How do we increase research on effective collaborations between school districts and the actors in the local economy to develop theories of change and to design effective interventions and programs to ensure that youth leave high school with skills, knowledge, and access to meaningful jobs and careers in the local economy, and that they are able to adapt to changing social conditions and be lifelong learners?" (NASEM, 2019, p. 204).

#### Developing common indicators for thriving.

Definitions of robust thriving and equity are not sufficient. It is important to develop common indicators that practitioners and policymakers can use to identify needs and monitor progress and to make sure that indicators address the positive aspects of thriving and are sensitive to variation. Common indicators are not a matter for researchers alone; they affect policymakers and funders whose actions affect what researchers do and can do.

Thriving occurs across fields and is affected by multiple service systems that are grounded in different professional disciplines, driven by distinct mandates, and employ divergent definitions and terminology. These systems each are influenced by systemic racism and classism, in a system-specific manner. These fragmented systems collect and use data that are often unaligned across systems, localities, or states. This lack of alignment and redundant data demands burdens practitioners and consumers with excessive demands, limits interagency and cross-stakeholder collaboration, and constrains the potential to leverage machine learning (e.g., natural language processing and simultaneous processing of vast numbers of data points) and

advances in network analyses methodologies and data analytical techniques (Katz et al., 2019). It is important to ensure that machine learning algorithms and indicators are culturally responsive, attentive to intersectionality, and include phenomenological data (e.g., school climate data). They must address strengths and not just needs.

There are examples of efforts to develop common indicators of thriving (Katz et al., 2019, 2022; Osher & Chasin, 2016). For example, as noted earlier, The Interagency Working Group on Youth Programs is developing common indicators across 21 federal departments and agencies. Although not easy, doing this responds to stakeholder input regarding how federal efforts can better help communities to support youth development.

### *Examining how equity-infused transformative approaches to learning, child and youth development, and social support promote thriving and robust equity.*

We have an opportunity to study, evaluate, and contribute to transformative approaches to whole-child learning, youth development and mental health and trauma-informed work. Some advances involve transformative approaches to teaching and learning (Darling Hammond et al., 2021; Hammond, 2014; Osher et al., 2022; Quinn, 2022; Slavich & Zimbardo, 2012). Others involve promotional and prevention approaches to mental health and service coordination (e.g., Ferrara & Jacobson, 2019; Lazarus et al., 2021; Osher, Mayer, et al., 2019; Weist et al., 2023).

Transformative approaches to SEL and trauma-related work (e.g., Anderson & Stevenson, 2019; Ginwright, 2015; Jagers, Rivas-Drake, & Williams, 2019; Osher et al., 2021) provide two examples. We need to know more about these approaches, their effects, and what contributes to their effects. We also must understand how they can be aligned in the youth ecosystem (e.g., schools or youth centers) or across the youth ecosystem, what the common ingredients are, and how they are affected by contextual and cultural specificity (Akiva et al., 2020; Dymnicki et al., 2016, 2017, 2020).

Better aligned mixed-methods approaches can improve research quality, particularly when they address contextual differences in methods, goals, staffing structures, and youth and family engagement practices in and across settings. The reliability and conceptual and ecological validity of research can be enhanced by participatory and community-design work (Bang et al., 2016; Bang & Vossoughi, 2016; Ko et al., 2021), justice-oriented approaches to youth development (Barbarin et al., 2019, 2020; Ko et al., 2022; Murry & Anderson, 2020), and youth participatory action research (Cammarota & Fine, 2008; Ozer, 2016; Winn & Richards-Schuster, 2019).

#### The Time Is Right

We opened this paper by making the case that the present moment demands that we rechart our nation's course and provides us some tools to engage in that work.

The concepts and research explored here introduce some next steps on that path. They also demonstrate that broadening and aligning our conceptualizations of thriving and equity are important and doable.

We are at the right interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary moment (e.g., Cohen et al., 2022; Cronin et al., 2021; Immordino-Yang et al., 2023; Ziervogel et al., 2016). There are sufficiently congruent knowledge bases across many sciences and disciplines; improved data analytic tools; and a hunger for doing things differently. This hunger reflects how the bottom-up documentation of assaults on peoples dignity enhances the visibility of micro and macro aggressions by neighbors and police at a time when Covid's disparate effects heightened the translucence of inequity. The readiness to take on these wicked problems is enhanced by new organizational leadership that is more diverse and understands the impacts of poverty, racism, and trauma, along with the need for healing and equity (e.g., Toppin, 2021). Sometimes, research and ideas are of profound salience but not ready for uptake; this is not one of those times.

The last four decades witnessed advances in the understanding of many key issues and innovative developments in communities and in practice. These developments include but are not limited to resilience, positive youth development, positive psychology, ecological approaches, and cultural competence.

As depicted in Figure 1 (page 6), conceptualizations of thriving, equity, and learning and of the impacts they have on each other, have advanced from static, single-issue, overly quantitative definitions toward the more expansive and more inclusive conceptualizations of thriving and robust equity recommended in this paper.

#### Conclusion

Thriving and equity hold promise for a better country and world. Efforts to achieve both have suffered intellectually from linear reductionist thinking that ignores context and from attempts to narrow, rather than expand, how we think about both. These failings make it imperative that we conceptualize and operationalize robust thriving and equity in research, evaluation, policy, and practice.

Thriving and equity are interdependent, cumulative, culturally influenced, and socio-historically structured. Our capacity to address thriving and equity depends on our capacity to address the other. Research, policy, intervention, and practice, however, ignore this interdependence and

focus on one outcome, narrowly operationalized, and in a manner that addresses only one or a few systems, is timed for quick impact, and ignores cumulative and longitudinal effects.

We know enough from the convergence of bodies of knowledge across multiple disciplines, as well as from practice, that if we desire a world in which people thrive and are treated equitably, we can and must do better. If we are committed to thriving and equity, we can and should use robust approaches to set goals, evaluate objectives, and also draw from increasing knowledge about the dynamic ecological underpinnings of thriving and equity to improve the design and implementation of research, policy, and practice.

### References

- Adelman, H. S., Taylor, L., Dwyer, K. P., & Mayer, M. J. (2019). Intersection of school safety, mental health and wellness, and family and community Issues. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Woo (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (Vol. 1, pp. 3–24). Praeger.
- Akiva, T., & Robinson, K. H. (Eds.). (2022). *It takes an ecosystem: Understanding the people, places, and possibilities of learning and development across settings*. Information Age Publishing.
- Akiva, T., Delale-O'Connor, L., & Pittman, K. J. (2020). The promise of building equitable ecosystems for learning. *Urban Education*, *58*(6), 1271–1297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085920926230</u>
- Alim, H. S., Paris, D., & Wong, C. P. (2020). Culturally sustaining pedagogy: A critical framework for centering communities. In N. S. Nasir, C. D. Lee, R. Pea, & M. McKinney de Royston (Eds.), *Handbook of the cultural foundations of learning* (pp. 261–276). Routledge.
- Andersen, C. (2004). Distributed metacognition during peer collaboration. In R. Alterman & D. Kirsh (Eds.), *Proceedings of the twenty-fifth annual conference of the Cognitive Science Society* (pp. 85–90). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Anderson, R. E., & Stevenson, H. C. (2019). RECASTing racial stress and trauma: Theorizing the healing potential of racial socialization in families. *American Psychologist*, *74*(1), 63–75.
- Artiles, A. J., Kozleski, E. B., Trent, S. C., Osher, D., & Ortiz, A. (2010). Justifying and explaining disproportionality, 1968–2008: A critique of underlying views of culture. *Exceptional Children*, 76(3), 279–299.
- Bal, A. (2016). From intervention to innovation: A cultural-historical approach to the racialization of school discipline. *Interchange*, *47*(4), 409–427.
- Bandura, A. (2000). Self-efficacy: The foundation of agency. In W. J. Perrig & A. Grob (Eds.), *Control of human behavior, mental processes, and consciousness: Essays in honor of the 60th birthday of August Flammer* (pp. 16–31). Psychology Press.

Bandura, A., Freeman, W. H., & Lightsey, R. (1999). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Macmillan.

- Bang, M., & Vossoughi, S. (2016). Participatory design research and educational justice: Studying learning and relations within social change making. *Cognition and Instruction*, *34*(3), 173–193.
- Bang, M., Faber, L., Gurneau, J., Marin, A., & Soto, C. (2016). Community-based design research: Learning across generations and strategic transformations of institutional relations toward axiological innovations. *Mind, Culture, and Activity, 23*(1), 28–41.

- Banks, J. A. (2017). Failed citizenship and transformative civic education. *Educational Researcher*, 46(7), 366–377.
- Barajas-López, F., & Ishimaru, A. M. (2020). "Darles el lugar": A place for nondominant family knowing in educational equity. *Urban Education*, 55(1), 38–65.
- Barbarin, O. A., Hitti, A., & Copeland-Linder, N. (2019). Behavioral and emotional development of African American boys growing up in risky environments. *Child Development Perspectives*, 13(4), 215–220.
- Barbarin, O. A., Tolan, P. H., Gaylord-Harden, N., & Murry, V. (2020). Promoting social justice for African-American boys and young men through research and intervention: A challenge for developmental science. *Applied Developmental Science*, 24(3), 196–207.
- Barber, C., Clark, C., Torney-Purta, J., Campbell, D., Hahn, C., & Kuhn, D. (2021). Learning environments and school/classroom climate as supports for civic reasoning, discourse, and engagement. In C. D. Lee, G. White, & D. Dong (Eds.), *Educating for civic reasoning and discourse* (pp. 273–318). National Academy of Education. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED611951.pdf</u>
- Barnhart, S., Bode, M., Gearhart, M. C., & Maguire-Jack, K. (2022). Supportive neighborhoods, family resilience and flourishing in childhood and adolescence. *Children*, 9(4), Article 495. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/children9040495</u>
- Barry, C. M., Nelson, L., Davarya, S., & Urry, S. (2010). Religiosity and spirituality during the transition to adulthood. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *34*(4), 311–324.
- Bartlett, T., & Schugurensky, D. (2021). Reinventing Freire in the 21st century: Citizenship education, student voice and school participatory budgeting. *Current Issues in Comparative Education*, 23(2), 55–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.52214/cice.v23i2.8571</u>
- Bell, D. (2008). And we are not saved: The elusive quest for racial justice. Basic Books.
- Benson, P. L., & Scales, P. C. (2009). The definition and preliminary measurement of thriving in adolescence. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *4*(1), 85–104.
- Berg, J., Diffenderffer, A., & Osher, D. (2022). School climate assessments: Measuring the conditions that support students' social and emotional competencies. In J. Burrus, S. H. Rikoon, & M. W. Brenneman (Eds.), Assessing competencies for social and emotional learning (pp. 210–226). Routledge.
- Berg, J., Osher, D., Moroney, D., & Yoder, N. (2017). The intersection of school climate and social and emotional development. American Institutes for Research. <u>https://www.air.org/resource/report/intersection-school-climate-and-social-and-emotionaldevelopment</u>

- Bernard, D. L., Calhoun, C. D., Banks, D. E., Halliday, C. A., Hughes-Halbert, C., & Danielson, C. K. (2021). Making the "C-ACE" for a culturally-informed adverse childhood experiences framework to understand the pervasive mental health impact of racism on Black youth. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma*, 14(2), 233–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-020-00319-9</u>
- Bethell, C. D., Gombojav, N., & Whitaker, R. C. (2019). Family resilience and connection promote flourishing among US children, even amid adversity. *Health Aff (Millwood)*, 38(5), 729–737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05425</u>
- Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2012). Child development in the context of adversity: Experiential canalization of brain and behavior. *American Psychologist*, *67*(4), 309–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027493</u>
- Bogan, E., Adams-Bass, V. N., Francis, L. A., Gaylord-Harden, N. K., Seaton, E. K., Scott, J. C., & Williams,
   J. L. (2022). Wearing a mask won't protect us from our history: The impact of COVID-19 on Black children and families. *Social Policy Report*, *35*(2), 1–33.
- Bottiani, J. H., Duran, C. A., Pas, E. T., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2019). Teacher stress and burnout in urban middle schools: Associations with job demands, resources, and effective classroom practices. *Journal of School Psychology*, 77, 36-51.
- Bourdieu, P. (2018). Cultural reproduction and social reproduction. In R. Brown (Ed.), *Knowledge, education, and cultural change: Papers in the sociology of education* (pp. 71–112). Routledge.
- Bowleg, L. (2020). We're not all in this together: On COVID-19, intersectionality, and structural inequality. *America Journal of Public Health*, 110(7), 917–917.
- Boyd, D. T., Jones, K. V., Quinn, C. R., Gale, A., Williams, E. D. G., & Lateef, H. (2022). The mental health of Black youth affected by community violence: Family and school context as pathways to resilience. *Children*, *9*(2), Article 259.
- Bradshaw, C. P., Williamson, S. K., Kendziora, K., Jones, W., & Cole, S. (2019). Multitiered approaches to school-based mental health, wellness, and trauma response. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (pp. 85–110). Praeger.
- Bransford, J. D., Brown, A. L., & Cocking, R. R. (2000). *How people learn: Brain, mind, experience, and school*. National Academy Press.
- Bratman, G. N., Anderson, C. B., Berman, M. G., Cochran, B., De Vries, S., Flanders, J., Folke, C., Frumkin, H., Gross, J. J., Hartig, T., Kahn, P. H., Jr., Klio, M., Lawler, J., Levin, P. S., Lindahl, T., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Mitchell, R., Ouyang, Z., Roe, J., Scarlett, L., . . . Daily, G. C. (2019). Nature and mental health: An ecosystem service perspective. *Science Advances*, *5*(7), Article eaax0903. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aax0903

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design*. Harvard University Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (2005). *Making human beings human: Bioecological perspectives on human development*. SAGE Publishing.
- Brookhart, S. M. (2013). How to create and use rubrics for formative assessment and grading. ACSD.
- Brown, T., & Homan, P. (2022). Structural racism and health stratification in the U.S.: Connecting theory to measurement. <u>https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/3eacp</u>
- Brundage, W. F., Hunter, A., Williams, K., Snyder, C., Carrigan, W., Osher, D., & Elias, M. (forthcoming).
  "A crime to be silent in the face of such barbaric acts": Understanding the role of violent extremism in the American past and present. *School Psychology* Review, Invited article under review.
- Burrow, A. L., & Hill, P. L. (2011). Purpose as a form of identity capital for positive youth adjustment. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(4), 1196–1206.
- Burrow, A. L., Hill, P. L., Ratner, K., & Sumner, R. (2018). A better tomorrow: Toward a stronger science of youth purpose. *Research in Human Development*, *15*(2), 167–180.
- Burrow, A. L., O'Dell, A. C., & Hill, P. L. (2010). Profiles of a developmental asset: Youth purpose as a context for hope and well-being. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 39*(11), 1265–1273.
- Butler, A. R., Katz, J., Johnson, J., Osher, D., Pentimonti, J., & Neiman, S. (2018). Continuous improvement. In D. Osher, D. Moroney, & S. Williamson (Eds.), *Creating safe, equitable, engaging schools: A comprehensive, evidence-based approach to supporting students*. Harvard Education Press.
- Cachia, R., Ferrari, A., Ala-Mutka, K., & Punie, Y. (2010). *Creative learning and innovative teaching: Final report on the study on creativity and innovation in education in EU member states* (IPTS Report No. JRC62370). Joint Research Centre (Seville site).
- Cammarota, J., & Fine, M. (2008). Youth participatory action research: A pedagogy for transformational resistance. In J. Cammarota & M. Fine (Eds.), *Revolutionizing education: Youth participatory action research in motion* (pp. 1–12). Routledge.
- Camp, S. M. H. (2004). *Closer to freedom: Enslaved women and everyday resistance in the planation south*. University of North Carolina Press.
- Cantor, P., & Osher, D. (2021a). The future of the science of learning and development: Whole-child development, learning, and thriving in an era of collective adversity, disruptive change, and increasing inequality. In P. Cantor & D. Osher (Eds.), *The science of learning and development* (pp. 233–254). Routledge.

- Cantor, P., & Osher, D. (Eds.). (2021b). *The science of learning and development: Enhancing the lives of all young people*. Routledge.
- Cantor, P., Lerner, R. M., Pittman, K. J., Chase, P. A., & Gomperts, N. (2021). *Whole-child development, learning, and thriving: A dynamic systems approach*. Cambridge University Press.
- Cantor, P., Osher, D., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2019). Malleability, plasticity, and individuality: How children learn and develop in context. *Applied Developmental Science*, *23*(4), 307–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2017.1398649</u>
- Carter, P. L., & Reardon, S. F. (2014). *Inequality matters*. William T. Grant Foundation.
- Casillas, A., Roberts, B., & Jones, S. (2022). An integrative perspective on SEL frameworks. In *Assessing* competencies for social and emotional learning (pp. 9–27). Routledge.
- Catalano, R. F., Berglund, M. L., Ryan, J. A., Lonczak, H. S., & Hawkins, J. D. (2004). Positive youth development in the United States: Research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *591*(1), 98–124.
- Chaddock-Heyman, L., Hillman, C. H., Cohen, N. J., & Kramer, A. F., III. (2014). The importance of physical activity and aerobic fitness for cognitive control and memory in children. *Monographs for Society on Research in Child Development*, *79*(4), 25–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12129</u>
- Chae, D. H., Yip, T., Martz, C. D., Chung, K., Richeson, J. A., Hajat, A., ... & LaVeist, T. A. (2021). Vicarious racism and vigilance during the COVID-19 pandemic: mental health implications among Asian and Black Americans. *Public Health Reports*, *136*(4), 508-517.
- Chamizo-Nieto, M. T., Arrivillaga, C., Rey, L., & Extremera, N. (2021). The role of emotional intelligence, the teacher-student relationship, and flourishing on academic performance in adolescents: A moderated mediation study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, Article 695067.
- Chang, H. N., Osher, D., Schanfield, M., Sundius, J., & Bauer, L. (2019). Using chronic absence data to improve conditions for learning. Attendance Works & American Institutes for Research. <u>https://www.attendanceworks.org/using-chronic-absence-data-to-improve-conditions-for-learning/</u>
- Charles, C. Z. (2006). *Won't you be my neighbor? Race, class, and residence in Los Angeles*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Chick, N. L., Karis, T., & Kernahan, C. (2009). Learning from their own learning: How metacognitive and meta-affective reflections enhance learning in race-related courses. *International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *3*(1), Article 16.

- Chiu, M. M., & Kuo, W. S. (2009). From metacognition to social metacognition: Similarities, differences, and learning. *Journal of Educational Research*, *3*(4), 1–19.
- Cipriano, C., Strambler, M. J., Naples, L. H., Ha, C., Kirk, M., Wood, M., ... & Durlak, J. (2023). The state of evidence for social and emotional learning: A contemporary meta-analysis of universal school-based SEL interventions. *Child Development*, *94*(5), 1181-1204.'s
- Clark, R. (2009). Antagonism between achievement and enjoyment in ATI studies. *Educational Psychologist*, *17*(2), 92–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00461528209529247</u>
- Clark, R., Anderson, N. B., Clark, V. R., & Williams, D. R. (1999). Racism as a stressor for African Americans: A biopsychosocial model. *American Psychologist*, *54*(10), 805–816.
- Clawson, H. J., & Wu, S. (2019). Early intervention within the school setting. In D. Osher, M. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (pp. 22–49). Praeger.
- Cohen, C. E. (2020). Let's make a better world: Policy implications of the cultural work practice of Jane Wilburn Sapp. *Arts Education Policy Review*, *121*(3), 111–114.
- Cohen, C. R., Lescano, A. G., Mardones, F. O., Menon, P., Thirumurthy, H., & Ssali, S. (2022). Advancing global health and the sustainable development goals through transdisciplinary research and equitable publication practices. *Advances in Global Health*, 1(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/agh.2022.1794571</u>
- Cohen, J., Gordon, E., & Kendziora, K. (2019). School safety, wellness, and learning. In D. Osher,
  M. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (pp. 240–261).
  Praeger.
- Coleman, C. L., Morrison, M., Perkins, S. K., Brosco, J. P., & Schor, E. L. (2022). Quality of life and wellbeing for children and youth with special health care needs and their families: A vision for the future. *Pediatrics*, 149(Supplement 7), Article e2021056150G. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2021-056150G</u>
- Compton-Lilly, C. (2020). Microaggressions and macroaggressions across time: The longitudinal construction of inequality in schools. *Urban Education*, 55(8–9), 1315–1349.
- Condit, C. M. (2011). When do people deploy genetic determinism? A review pointing to the need for multi-factorial theories of public utilization of scientific discourses. *Sociology Compass*, *5*(7), 618–635.

- Council on Social Work Education. (2016). *Working definition of economic well-being*. <u>https://www.cswe.org/centers-initiatives/economic-wellbeing-clearinghouse/working-definition-of-economic-wellbeing/</u>
- Craik, F. I., & Lockhart, R. S. (1972). Levels of processing: A framework for memory research. *Journal of Verbal Learning & Verbal Behavior*, *11*(6), 671–684.
- Crenshaw, K. W. (2017). On intersectionality: Essential writings. The New Press.
- Crocetti, E., Rubini, M., & Meeus, W. (2008). Capturing the dynamics of identity formation in various ethnic groups: Development and validation of a three-dimensional model. *Journal of Adolescence*, *31*(2), 207–222.
- Cronin, J., Hughes, N., Tomei, J., Couto, L. C., Ali, M., Kizilcec, V., Adewole, A., Bisaga, I., Broad, O.,
   Parikh, P., Eludoyin, E., Hofbauer, L., Machado, P. G. Butnar, I., Anandarajah, G., Webb, J.,
   Lemaire, X., & Watson, J. (2021). Embedding justice in the 1.5°C transition: A transdisciplinary
   research agenda. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Transition*, *1*, Article 100001.
- Cross, K. P. (1998). Why learning communities? Why now? *About Campus: Enriching the Student Learning Experience*, *3*(3), 4–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/108648229800300303</u>
- Cross, T. (1998). Understanding family resiliency from a relational world view. In H. McCubbin,
  E. Thompson, A. Thompson, & J. Fromer (Eds.), *Resiliency in Native American and immigrant families* (pp. 143–157). Sage Publications.

Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1996). Creativity: The work and lives of 91 eminent people. Harper Collins.

- Cueva, K., Akearok, G. H., Guistini, S., Kanayurak, N., Larsen, C. V., Lavoie, J., Rink, E., & Stoor, J. P. A.
  (2021). Where are the people? A scoping review on the use of the term "resilience" in Arctic health research and its relevance to community expressions of well-being. *Elementa: Science of the Anthropocene*, 9(1), Article 00077.
- Cummings, R. D. (2019). Justice then and now: Engaging students in critical thinking about justice and history. *The Social Studies*, *110*(6), 281–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00377996.2019.1652140</u>
- Dang, J., King, K. M., & Inzlicht, M. (2020). Why are self-report and behavioral measures weakly correlated? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 24(4), 267–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2020.01.007</u>
- Daniel, J., Quartz, K. H., & Oakes, J. (2019). Teaching in community schools: Creating conditions for deeper learning. *Review of Research in Education*, *43*(1), 453-480.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2020). Accountability in teacher education. *Action in Teacher Education*, 42(1), 60–71.

- Darling-Hammond, L., Cantor, P., Hernández, L. E., Theokas, C., Schachner, A., Tijerina, E., & Plasencia, S. (2021). Design principles for schools: Putting the science of learning and development into action. Learning Policy Institute. <u>https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/default/files/product-files/SoLD\_Design\_Principles\_Principle\_3\_Rich\_Learning.pdf</u>
- Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B., & Osher, D. (2020). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(2), 97–140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791</u>
- Dawes, D. E. (2020). The political determinants of health. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- De Corte, E. (2003). Designing learning environments that foster the productive use of acquired knowledge and skills. In E. De Corte, L. Verschaffel, N. Entwistle, & J. J. G. Van Merriënboer (Eds.), *Powerful learning environments: Unravelling basic components and dimensions* (pp. 21– 26). Elsevier.
- Department for Education and Employment. (2000). *Curriculum guidance for the foundation stage*. DfEE/QCA.
- DiMaggio, P., & Garip, F. (2012). Network effects and social inequality. *Annual Review of Sociology, 38,* 93–118. <u>https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/garip/files/dimaggio\_garip\_2012.pdf</u>
- Dipietro, L., Campbell, W. W., Buchner, D. M., Erickson, K. I., Powell, K. E., Bloodgood, B., Hughes, T., Day, K. R., Piercy, K. L., Vaux-Bjerke, A., & Olson, R. D. (2019). Physical activity, injurious falls, and physical function in aging: An umbrella review. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 51(6), 1303–1313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000001942</u>
- Dixon-Román, E. J. (2013). The forms of capital and the developed achievement of Black males. *Urban Education*, *48*(6), 828–862.
- Dixon-Román, E. J. (2017). *Inheriting possibility: Social reproduction and quantification in education*. University of Minnesota Press.
- Dixon-Román, E. J., Jackson, J. L., & de Royston, M. M. (2020). Reconceptualizing the quantitativequalitative divide: Toward a new empiricism. In N. S. Nasir, C. D. Lee, R. Pea, & M. McKinney de Royston (Eds.), Handbook of the cultural foundations of learning (pp. 314–329). Routledge.
- Douglass, S., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2015). Development of ethnic–racial identity among Latino adolescents and the role of family. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 41, 90–98.
- Doyle, W. (1977). Learning the classroom environment: An ecological analysis. *Journal of teacher education*, *28*(6), 51-55.

- Doyle, W. (2006). Ecological approaches to classroom management. In C. M. Evertson & C. S. Weinstein (Eds.), *Handbook of classroom management. Research, practice, and contemporary issues* (pp. 97–125). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Doyle, W. (2013). Ecological approaches to classroom management. In *Handbook of classroom management* (pp. 107-136). Routledge.
- Du Bois, W. B. (1903). The souls of Black folk. Project Gutenberg.
- Dulaney, E. S., Graupmann, V., Grant, K. E., Adam, E. K., & Chen, E. (2018). Taking on the stressdepression link: Meaning as a resource in adolescence. *Journal of Adolescence*, 65(1), 39–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.02.011</u>
- Duncan, G., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (Eds.). (1997). *Consequences of growing up poor*. Russell Sage Foundation. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7758/9781610448260</u>
- Duncan-Andrade, J. M. (2022). *Equality or equity: Toward a model of community-responsive education*. Harvard Education Press.
- Dymnicki, A. B., Osher, D., Wandersman, A., & Paktis, A. (2016). *Identifying successful implementation science factors: Final report.* American Institutes for Research.
- Dymnicki, A. B., Wandersman, A. H., Osher, D. M., & Pakstis, A. (2017). *Bringing interventions to scale: Implications and challenges for the field of community psychology.* In M. A. Bond, I. Serrano-García, C. B. Keys, & M. Shinn (Eds.), *APA handbook of community psychology: Methods for community research and action for diverse groups and issues* (pp. 297–310). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/14954-017
- Dymnicki, A., Trivits, L., Hoffman, C., & Osher, D. (2020). Advancing the use of core components of effective programs: Suggestions for researchers publishing evaluation results. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. <u>https://youth.gov/sites/default/files/ASPE-Brief\_Core-Components.pdf</u>
- Ebersöhn, L. (2012). Adding 'flock' to 'fight and flight': A honeycomb of resilience where supply of relationships meets demand for support. *Journal of Psychology in Africa, 22(1),* 29–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2012.10874518
- Eliade, M. (1959). *The sacred and the profane: The nature of religion* (Vol. 81). Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Elliott, S. N., & Bartlett, B. J. (2014). Opportunity to learn. *Oxford handbook topics in psychology* (online ed.). Oxford Academic. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199935291.013.70</u>
- Ellis, W. R., & Dietz, W. H. (2017). A new framework for addressing adverse childhood and community experiences: The building community resilience model. *Academic Pediatrics*, *17*(7), S86–S93.

- Falck, R. S., Davis, J. C., Best, J. R., Crockett, R. A., & Liu-Ambrose, T. (2019). Impact of exercise training on physical and cognitive function among older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 79, 119–130.
- Fanon, F. (1970). Black skin, White masks. Paladin.
- Farmer, T. W., Serpell, Z., Scott, L. A., DeVlieger, S. E., Brooks, D. S., & Hamm, J. V. (2022). The developmental dynamics of emotional and behavioral difficulties of youth of color: Systemic oppression, correlated constraints, and the need for targeted universalism. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 30(2), 71-85.
- Farmer, T. W., Serpell, Z., Scott, L. A., DeVlieger, S. E., Brooks, D. S., & Hamm, J. V. (2022). The developmental dynamics of emotional and behavioral difficulties of youth of color: Systemic oppression, correlated constraints, and the need for targeted universalism. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 30(2), 71–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266211068892</u>
- Fataar, A. (2012). Pedagogical justice and student engagement in South African schooling: Working with the cultural capital of disadvantaged students. *Perspectives in Education*, *30*(4), 52–75.
- Feeney, B. C., & Collins, N. L. (2015). A new look at social support: A theoretical perspective on thriving through relationships. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *19*(2), 113–147.
- Fenwick, L. T. (2022). *Jim Crow's pink slip: The untold story of Black principal and teacher leadership.* Harvard Education Press.
- Ferrara, J., & Jacobson, R. (Eds.). (2019). *Community schools: People and places transforming education and communities*. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Ferri, B. A., & Connor, D. J. (2005). In the shadow of Brown: Special education and overrepresentation of students of color. *Remedial and Special Education*, *26*(2), 93–100.
- Foner, E. (2013). The contested history of American freedom. *Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography*, *137*(1), 13–31.
- Forrant, R., Siegenthaler, J., Levenstein, C., & Wooding, J. (2016). *The great Lawrence textile strike of 1912: New scholarship on the bread & roses strike*. Routledge.
- Fowler, J. H., & Christakis, N. A. (2008). Dynamic spread of happiness in a large social network: Longitudinal analysis over 20 years in the Framingham Heart Study. *British Medical Journal*, 337(a2338), 1–9.
- Francis, K., & Osher, D. (2018). The centrality of cultural competence and responsiveness. In D. Osher,
   D. Moroney, & S. Williamson (Eds.), *Creating safe, equitable, engaging schools: A comprehensive, evidence-based approach to supporting students*. Harvard Education Press.

Francis, K., & Osher, D. (2018). The centrality of cultural competence and responsiveness. In Osher, D., Moroney, D., & Williamson, S. (Eds.), *Creating Safe, Equitable, Engaging Schools: A Comprehensive, Evidence-Based Approach to Supporting Students*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.

Freire, P. (1970). *Pedagogy of the oppressed*. Herder and Herder.

Freire, P. (1973). Education for critical consciousness (American ed.). Seabury Press.

Freire, P. (1976). *Education, the practice of freedom*. Writers and Readers Publishing Cooperative.

Freire, P. (1994). Pedagogy of hope. Continuum.

Fullan, M., & Kirtman, L. (2019). Coherent school leadership: Forging clarity from complexity. Ascd.

- Fullan, M., Osher, D., Junk, K., & Malloy, J. (2023). Supporting student well-being and learning in challenging times: A transition tool. American Institutes for Research. <u>https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/2023-06/Deep-Learning-Transition-Tool-508-June-2023.pdf</u>
- Gadsden, V. L., & Dixon-Román, E. J. (2017). "Urban" schooling and "urban" families: The role of context and place. *Urban Education*, *52*(4), 431–459.
- Gambone, M. A., Klem, A. M., & Connell, J. P. (2002). Finding out what matters for youth. *Philadelphia, PA: Youth Development Strategies*.
- Gans, H. J. (1968). The ghetto rebellions and urban class conflict. *Proceedings of the Academy of Political Science*, *29*(1), 42–51.
- Garcia, J., Shirley, V., Windchief, S., & San Pedro, T. (2020). Pedagogy of solidarity: Hope and promise from Indigenous movement spaces. In T. San Pedro, R. Paris, D. Paris, & A. E. Shield (Eds.), *Education in movement spaces* (pp. 87–98). Routledge.
- Garcia, J., Vargas, N., Clark, J. L., Magaña Álvarez, M., Nelons, D. A., & Parker, R. G. (2020). Social isolation and connectedness as determinants of well-being: Global evidence mapping focused on LGBTQ youth. *Global public health*, *15*(4), 497-519.
- *García-Carrión, R.* (In press). The Implications Science of Learning and Development for creating children pathways to successful learning and healthy development in the global South and North, *Review of Research in Education*. The science of learning development.

*García-Carrión, R.* (In press). The Implications Science of Learning and Development for creating children pathways to successful learning and healthy development in the global South and North, *Review of Research in Education*.

 Garibaldi, M., Ruddy, S., Kendziora, K., & Osher, D. (2015). Assessment of climate and conditions for learning. In J. A. Durlak, C. E. Domitrovich, R. P. Weissberg, & T. P. Gullotta (Eds.), Handbook of social and emotional learning: Research and practice (pp. 348–358). The Guilford Press.

- Gartland, D., Riggs, E., Muyeen, S., Giallo, R., Afifi, T. O., MacMillan, H., Herrman, H., Bulford, E., & Brown, S. J. (2019). What factors are associated with resilient outcomes in children exposed to social adversity? A systematic review. BMJ Open, 11;9(4), Article e024870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024870</u>
- Gay, G. (2010). *Culturally responsive teaching: Theory, research, and practice* (Multicultural Education Series, 2nd ed.). Teachers College Press.
- Gaylord-Harden, N. K., Barbarin, O., Tolan, P. H., & Murry, V. M. (2018). Understanding development of African American boys and young men: Moving from risks to positive youth development. *American Psychologist*, 73(6), 753–767.
- Gaylord-Harden, N. K., Graham, S., Barbarin, O., Tolan, P. H., & Murry, V. M. (2021). Coping and adaptation in challenging environments: Introduction to the special issue on development of boys and young men of color. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 72, Article 101220.
- Gee, G. C., & Hicken, M. T. (2021). Structural racism: The rules and relations of inequity. *Ethnicity & Disease*, *31*(Suppl 1), 293–300.
- Gee, G. C., Hing, A., Mohammed, S., Tabor, D. C., & Williams, D. R. (2019). Racism and the life course: Taking time seriously. *American Journal of Public Health*, *109*(S1), S43–S47.
- Gestsdottir, S., & Lerner, R. M. (2007). Intentional self-regulation and positive youth development in early adolescence: Findings from the 4-H Study of Positive Youth Development. *Developmental Psychology*, *43*(2), 508–521.
- Gibbs, B. C. (2020). Critical teaching in classrooms of healing: Struggles and testimonios. *Journal of Curriculum Studies Research*, 2(1), 95–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.46303/jcsr.02.01.6</u>
- Ginwright, S. (2010b). Building a pipeline for justice: Understanding youth organizing and the leadership pipeline. *Occasional Paper Series*, 10, 48–55.
- Ginwright, S. (2018). *The future of healing: Shifting from trauma informed care to healing centered engagement*. Medium. <u>https://ginwright.medium.com/the-future-of-healing-shifting-from-trauma-informed-care-to-healing-centered-engagement-634f557ce69c</u>
- Ginwright, S. (2018). The future of healing: Shifting from trauma informed care to healing centered engagement. *Occasional Paper*, *25*, 25-32.
- Ginwright, S. A. (2006). Racial justice through resistance: Important dimensions of youth development for African Americans. *National Civic Review*, *95*(1), 41–46.
- Ginwright, S. A. (2007). Black youth activism and the role of critical social capital in Black community organizations. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *51*(3), 403-418.

- Ginwright, S. A. (2010a). *Black youth rising: Activism and radical healing in urban America*. Teachers College Press.
- Ginwright, S. A. (2015). Radically healing Black lives: A love note to justice. *New Directions for Student Leadership, 2015*(148), 33–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.20151</u>
- Giroux, H. A. (2010). Rethinking education as the practice of freedom: Paulo Freire and the promise of critical pedagogy. *Policy Futures in Education*, 8(6), 715–721. <u>https://doi.org/10.2304/pfie.2010.8.6.715</u>
- Givens, J. R. (2021). *Fugitive pedagogy: Carter G. Woodson and the art of Black teaching*. Harvard University Press.
- Glăveanu, V. P. (2014). *Distributed creativity: Thinking outside the box of the creative individual*. Springer.
- Glăveanu, V. P. (2015). Creativity as a sociocultural act. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 49(3), 165–180.
- Goffman, E. (1961). The medical model and mental hospitalization: Some notes on the vicissitudes of the tinkering trades. In E. Goffman (Ed.), *Asylums: Essays in the social situation of mental patients and other inmates* (pp. 321–386). Doubleday.
- Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity. Simon & Schuster.

Goldenberg, I. (1978). Oppression and social intervention. Nelson-Hall.

- Gomez, L. M. (In press). Fertile Boundaries For Field Building. *Review of Research in Education*. The science of learning development.
- Gomez, L. M. (In press). Fertile Boundaries For Field Building. Review of Research in Education.
- Gorski, P. (2019). Avoiding racial equity detours. *Educational Leadership*, *76*(7), 56–61. http://www.edchange.org/publications/Avoiding-Racial-Equity-Detours-Gorski.pdf
- Greenberg, M. T. (2006). Promoting resilience in children and youth: Preventive interventions and their interface with neuroscience. *Annals of the new York Academy of Sciences*, 1094(1), 139–150.
- Greene, M. (1995). Art and imagination: Reclaiming the sense of possibility. *The Phi Delta Kappan, 76*(5), 378–382.
- Greenhow, C., & Askari, E. (2015). Learning and teaching with social network sites: A decade of research in K-12 related education. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22(2), 623–645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-015-9446-9</u>
- Gregory, A., D., Osher, D., Bear, G. G., Jagers, R. J., & Sprague, J. R. (2021). Good intentions are not enough: Centering equity in school discipline reform. *School Psychology Review*, 50(2–3), 206– 220.

- Gregory, A., Clawson, K., Davis, A., & Gerewitz, J. (2016). The promise of restorative practices to transform teacherstudent relationships and achieve equity in school discipline. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation, 26*(4), 325–353.
- Gutiérrez, V., Larson, R. W., Raffaelli, M., Fernandez, M., & Guzman, S. (2017). How staff of youth programs respond to culture-related incidents: Nonengagement versus going "full-right-in." *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *32*(1), 64–93.

Haberman, M. (2005). The pedagogy of poverty. *Phi Delta Kappan*, *87*(4), 259–259.

Haberman, M. (2010). The pedagogy of poverty versus good teaching. Phi Delta Kappan, 92(2), 81-87.

- Hagerman, M. A. (2020). *White kids: Growing up with privilege in a racially divided America*. New York University Press.
- Hahnel, C., Ramanathan, A., Bassetto, J., & Cerrato, A. (2022). Unjust legacy. The Opportunity Institute.
- Halama, P., & Dedova, M. (2007). Meaning in life and hope as predictors of positive mental health: Do they explain residual variance not predicted by personality traits? *Studia Psychologica*, *49*(3), 191–200.
- Halverson, E., & Sawyer, K. (2022). Learning in and through the arts. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, *31*(1), 1–13.
- Hammond, Z. (2014). *Culturally responsive teaching and the brain: Promoting authentic engagement and rigor among culturally and linguistically diverse students*. Corwin Press.
- Hammond, Z. (2021). Liberatory education: Integrating the science of learning and culturally responsive practice. *American Educator*, 45(2), 4–11.
- Haney, C. (1982). Criminal justice and the nineteenth-century paradigm: The triumph of psychological individualism in the "formative era." *Law and Human Behavior*, 6(3–4), 191–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01044295
- Harms, M. B., & Garrett-Ruffin, S. D. (2023). Disrupting links between poverty, chronic stress, and educational inequality. *npj Science of Learning*, *8*(1), 50.
- Harrell-Levy, M., & Kerpelman, J. (2010). Identity process and transformative pedagogy: Teachers as agents of identity formation. *Identity: An International Journal of Theory and Research*, 10(2), 76–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15283481003711684</u>
- Heberle, A. E., Rapa, L. J., & Farago, F. (2020). Critical consciousness in children and adolescents: A systematic review, critical assessment, and recommendations for future research. *Psychological Bulletin*, 146(6), 525–551.

- Hecht, M. & Crowley, K. (2020). Unpacking the Learning Ecosystems Framework: Lessons from the Adaptive Management of Biological Ecosystems. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 29 (2), 264-284. DOI: 10.1080/10508406.2019.1693381.
- Hernández, L. E., Darling-Hammond, L., Adams, J., & Bradley, K. (2019). Deeper Learning Networks: Taking Student-Centered Learning and Equity to Scale. Deeper Learning Networks Series. *Learning Policy Institute*.
- Hernández-Saca, D. I., Gutmann Kahn, L., & Cannon, M. A. (2018). Intersectionality dis/ability research:
   How dis/ability research in education engages intersectionality to uncover the multidimensional construction of dis/abled experiences. *Review of Research in Education*, 42(1), 286–311.
- Heumann, J. (2020). *Being Heumann: An unrepentant memoir of a disability rights activist* (large print edition). Beacon Press.
- Hi, V. (2019). A theoretical and empirical examination of identity as coping: Linking coping resources to the self processes of African American youth. In J. L. Furrow & L. M. Wagener (Eds.), Beyond the self: Perspectives on identity and transcendence among youth: A special Issue of applied developmental science (pp. 181–188). Routledge.
- Hitchcock, C., Meyer, A., Rose, D., & Jackson, R. (2002). Providing new access to the general curriculum: Universal design for learning. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *35*(2), 8–17.
- Hoban, A. E., Stilling, R. M., Ryan, F. J., Shanahan, F., Dinan, T. G., Claesson, M. J., Clarke, G., & Cryan, J. (2016). Regulation of prefrontal cortex myelination by the microbiota. *Translational Psychiatry*, 6(4), Article e774.
- Hodge, D. R., Limb, G. E., & Cross, T. L. (2009). Moving from colonization toward balance and harmony: A Native American perspective on wellness. *Social Work*, *54*(3), 211–219.
- Hoffman, K. (2018). Concepts of identity: Historical and contemporary images and portraits of self and *family*. Routledge.
- Hogan, K. (2001). Collective metacognition: The interplay of individual, social, and cultural meanings in small groups' reflective thinking. In F. Columbus (Ed.), *Advances in psychology research* (Vol. 7, pp. 199–239). Nova Science Publishers.
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B., & Layton, J. B. (2010). Social relationships and mortality risk: A metaanalytic review. *PloS Medicine*, 7(7), 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316</u>
- Honey, M. K. (2011). *Going down Jericho Road: The Memphis strike, Martin King's last campaign*. W.W. Norton.
- Hope, E. C., & Spencer, M. B. (2017). Civic engagement as an adaptive coping response to conditions of inequality: An application of phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory (PVEST). Handbook on positive development of minority children and youth, 421-435.

- Hugot, J. P., & Davis, C. (2018). A probabilistic model of the genotype/phenotype relationship: Does life play the dice? CRC Press.
- Hunter, S. T., Bedell, K. E., & Mumford, M. D. (2007). Climate for creativity: A quantitative review. *Creativity Research Journal*, 19(1), 69–90.
- Immordino-Yang, M. H. (2016). Emotion, sociality, and the brain's default mode network. *Policy Insights* from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 3(2), 211–219.
- Immordino-Yang, M. H., & Gotlieb, R. (2017). Embodied brains, social minds, cultural meaning: Integrating neuroscientific and educational research on social-affective development. *American Educational Research Journal*, 54(1\_suppl), 344S–367S.

Immordino-Yang, M. H., Cantor, P., Nasir, N. S., & Yoshikawaz, H. (in press). Weaving a colorful cloth: Centering educational practice and research on humans' emergent and diverse developmental potentials. *Review of Research in Education*. The science of learning development.
 *Immordino-Yang, M. H., Cantor, P., Nasir, N. S., & Yoshikawaz, H.* (in press). Weaving a colorful cloth: Centering educational practice and research on humans' emergent and diverse developmental potentials. *Review of Research on humans' emergent and diverse development*.

- Izenberg, J. M., & Fullilove, M. T. (2016). Hospitality invites sociability, which builds cohesion: A model for the role of main streets in population mental health. *Journal of Urban Health*, *93*(2), 292–311.
- Jagers, R. J., Rivas-Drake, D., & Williams, B. (2019). Transformative social and emotional learning (SEL): Toward SEL in service of educational equity and excellence. *Educational Psychologist*, *54*(3), 162–184.
- Jagers, R. J., Williams, B., & Osher, D. (2019). Family matters: Exploring the role of family socialization and parenting practices in promoting the social and emotional learning of children and youth. In D. Osher, M. Mayer, R. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (pp. 317–341). Praeger.
- John-Henderson, N. A., & Ginty, A. T. (2020). Historical trauma and social support as predictors of psychological stress responses in American Indian adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *139*, Article 110263.
- Jones, S. C., Anderson, R. E., Gaskin-Wasson, A. L., Sawyer, B. A., Applewhite, K., & Metzger, I. W. (2020). From "crib to coffin": Navigating coping from racism-related stress throughout the lifespan of Black Americans. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *90*(2), 267–282.
- Jones, S. M., & Kahn, J. (2017). The evidence base for how we learn: Supporting students' social, emotional, and academic development: Consensus statements of evidence from the Council of Distinguished Scientists. Aspen Institute.

- Katz, J., Ahlstrom, A. W., Osher, D.; Thorngren, M., Montes, E., Hoffman, C. & Oberlander, S (2022).
   Interagency Collaboration and the Development of a Common Outcomes Framework and Equity Considerations to Advance Positive Youth Development. Interagency working group on youth programs.
- Katz, J., Dymnicki, A. B., Osher, D. M., Williamson, S., & Klochikhin, E. (2019). Using actionable models to leverage local school data. In M. J. Mayer & S. R. Jimerson (Eds.), *School safety and violence prevention: Science, practice, policy* (pp. 177–198). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0000106-001</u>
- Katznelson, I., & Mettler, S. (2008). On race and policy history: A dialogue about the GI Bill. *Perspectives* on *Politics*, *6*(3), 519–537.
- Kendziora, K. T., & Osher, D. M. (2004). Fostering resilience among youth in the juvenile justice system.
   In C. S. Clauss-Ehlers & M. D. Weist (Eds.), *Community planning to foster resilience in children* (pp. 177–195). Springer.
- Kendziora, K. T., Bruns, E., Osher, D., Pacchiano, D., & Mejia, B. (2001). Wraparound: Stories from the field: promising practices in children's mental health (Series 3, Vol. 1). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Kendziora, K., & Osher, D. (2016). Promoting children's and adolescents' social and emotional development: District adaptations of a theory of action. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology. Special Section: From Adoption to Adaptation, 45(6),* 797–811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2016.1197834</u>
- Kendziora, K., & Schaffer, T. (2019). Approaches to promotion and prevention. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer,
  R. J. Jaegers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive*(Vol. II, pp. 3–21). Praeger.
- Kerpelman, J. L., Pittman, J. F., & Lamke, L. K. (1997). Toward a microprocess perspective on adolescent identity development: An identity control theory approach. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *12*(3), 325–346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0743554897123002</u>
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2002). The mental health continuum: From languishing to flourishing in life. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 43*(2), 207–222.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2005). Mental illness and/or mental health? Investigating axioms of the complete state model of health. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *73*(3), 539–548.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2007). Promoting and protecting mental health as flourishing: A complementary strategy for improving national mental health. *American Psychologist, 62*(2), 95–108.

- Keyes, C. L. M. (2013). Promoting and protecting positive mental health: Early and often throughout the lifespan. In C. L. M. Keyes (Ed.), *Mental well-being: International contributions to the study of positive mental health* (pp. 3–28). Springer Science + Business Media.
- Keyes, C. L. M., & Waterman, M. B. (2003). Dimensions of well-being and mental health in adulthood. In
   M. H. Bornstein, L. Davidson, C. L. M. Keyes, & K. A. Moore (Eds.), *Well-being: Positive development across the life course* (pp. 477–497). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Kiang, L., & Fuligni, A. J. (2010). Meaning in life as a mediator of ethnic identity and adjustment among adolescents from Latin, Asian, and European American backgrounds. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 39*(11), 1253–1264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-009-9475-z</u>
- Kim, S., & Esquivel, G. B. (2011). Adolescent spirituality and resilience: Theory, research, and educational practices. *Psychology in the Schools, 48*(7), 755–765.
- King, M. A., Sims, A., & Osher, D. (2007). *How is cultural competence integrated in education?* American Institutes for Research, Center for Effective Collaboration and Practice.
- King, M. L. (1968, March 18). All labor has dignity. Speech given at the Bishop Charles Mason Temple of the Church of God in Christ in Memphis, Tennessee.
- Kirmayer, L. J., Sehdev, M., Whitley, R., Dandeneau, S. F., & Isaac, C. (2009). Community resilience: Models, metaphors and measures. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, *5*(1), 62–117.
- Kitayama, S., & Park, J. (2010). Cultural neuroscience of the self: Understanding the social grounding of the brain. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *5*(2–3), 111–129.
- Ko, D., Bal, A., & Artiles, A. J. (2022). Racial equity by design: Forming transformative agency to address the racialization of school discipline. *Urban Education*. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00420859221081774</u>
- Ko, D., Bal, A., Çakir, H. I., & Kim, H. (2021). Expanding transformative agency: Learning lab as a social change intervention for racial equity in school discipline. *Teachers College Record*, *123*(2), 1–42.
- Kurz, A., Elliott, S. N., Lemons, C. J., Zigmond, N., Kloo, A., & Kettler, R. J. (2014). Assessing opportunityto-learn for students with disabilities in general and special education classes. Assessment for Effective Intervention, 40(1), 24–39.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2006). From the achievement gap to the education debt: Understanding achievement in U.S. schools. *Educational Researcher*, *35*(7), 3–12.
- Lai, E. R., & Viering, M. (2012). Assessing 21st century skills: Integrating research findings. Paper presented at the National Council on Measurement in Education, Vancouver, B.C., Canada.

- Landrigan, P. J., Stegeman, J. J., Fleming, L. E., Allemand, D., Anderson, D. M., Backer, L. C., Brucker-Davis, F., Chevalier, N., Corra, L., Czerucka, D., Bottein, M-Y. D., Demeneix, B., Depledge, M., Deheyn, D. D., Dorman, C. J., Fénichel, P., Fisher, S., Gaill, F., Galgani, F., Gaze, W. H., . . .
   Rampal, P. (2020). Human health and ocean pollution. *Annals of Global Health*, 86(1). https://annalsofglobalhealth.org/articles/10.5334/aogh.2831
- Lave, J. (1988). *Cognition in practice: Mind, mathematics and culture in everyday life*. Cambridge University Press.
- Lazarus, P. J., Doll, B., Song, S. Y., & Radliff, K. (2021). Transforming school mental health services based on a culturally responsible dual-factor model. *School Psychology Review*, 51(6), 755–770.
- Lee, C. D. (2017). Integrating research on how people learn and learning across settings as a window of opportunity to address inequality in educational processes and outcomes. *Review of Research in Education*, 41(1), 88–111.
- Lee, C. D., Meltzoff, A. N., & Kuhl, P. K. (2020). The braid of human learning and development: Neuro-physiological processes and participation in cultural practices. In N. S. Nasir, C. D. Lee, R. Pea, & M. McKinney de Royston (Eds.), *Handbook of the cultural foundations of learning* (pp. 24–43). Routledge.
- Lee, C. D., White, G., & Dong, D. (2021). Educating for Civic Reasoning and Discourse. *National Academy of Education*.
- Lee, C. D., White, G., & Dong, D. (Eds.) (2021). *Educating for civic reasoning and discourse*. National Academy of Education.

Lee, C.D., Lerner, R.M., Osher, D., & Gadsden, V. L. (Eds.) (In press). Research of Research in Education. The science of learning development. Washington, D.C.: American Educational Research Association.
 Lee, C.D., Lerner, R.M., Osher, D., & Gadsden, V. L. (Eds.) (In press). Research of Research in Education. The science of

learning development. Washington, D.C.: American Educational Research Association. *Review of Research in Education*. Lee, C.D., Lerner, R.M., Osher, D., & Gadsden, V. L. (in press). The Science Of Learning And Development: A

View Of The Issues. *Review of Research in Education.* The science of learning development.

Lee, C.D., Lerner, R.M., Osher, D., & Gadsden, V. L. (in press). The Science Of Learning And Development: A View Of The Issues. *Review of Research in Education*.

Lee, D. L., & Ahn, S. (2012). Discrimination against Latina/os: A meta-analysis of individual-level resources and outcomes. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *40*(1), 28–65.

- Leffert, N., Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., Sharma, A. R., Drake, D. R., & Blyth, D. A. (1998). Developmental assets: Measurement and prediction of risk behaviors among adolescents. *Applied Developmental Science*, 2(4), 209–230.
- Leone, P., Quinn, M., & Osher, D. (2002). Collaboration in the juvenile justice system and youth serving agencies: Improving prevention, providing more efficient services, and reducing recidivism for youth with disabilities. *Monograph Series on Education, Disability and Juvenile Justice*. American Institutes for Research. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED471210</u>

Lerner, R. M. (2004). Liberty: Thriving and civic engagement among America's youth. SAGE Publishing.

- Lerner, R. M., & Bornstein, M. H. (2021). Contributions of the Specificity Principle to theory, research, and application in the study of human development: A view of the issues. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 75, Article 101294.
- Lerner, R. M., & Overton, W. F. (2017). Reduction to absurdity: Why epigenetics invalidates all models involving genetic reduction. *Human Development*, *60*(2–3), 107–123.
- Lerner, R. M., Dowling, E. M., & Anderson, P. M. (2003). Positive youth development: Thriving as the basis of personhood and civil society. *Applied Developmental Science*, 7(3), 172–180.
- Lerner, R. M., Geldhof, G. J., & Bowers, E. P. (2019). The science of learning and development: Entering a new frontier of human development theory, research, and application. *Applied Developmental Science*, *23*(4), 305–306.
- Lerner, R. M., Lerner, J. V., Bowers, E. P., & Geldhof, G. J. (2015). Positive youth development and relational-developmental-systems. In W. F. Overton, P. C. M. Molenaar, & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science: Theory and method.* (Vol. 1, 7th ed., pp. 607–651). John Wiley & Sons.
- Lester, L., & Cross, D. (2015). The relationship between school climate and mental and emotional wellbeing over the transition from primary to secondary school. *Psychology of Well-Being*, *5*(1), 1–15.
- Lewin, K. (1939). Field theory and experiment in social psychology: Concepts and methods. *American Journal of Sociology*, 44(6), 868–896.
- Liao, Y., Shonkoff, E. T., & Dunton, G. F. (2015). The acute relationships between affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in daily life: A review of current evidence. *Frontiers in Psychology, 6.* <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01975/full</u>
- LiCalsi, C., Osher, D., & Bailey, P. (2021). An empirical examination of the effects of suspension and suspension severity on behavioral and academic outcomes. American institutes for Research. <u>https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/2021-08/NYC-Suspension-Effects-Behavioral-Academic-Outcomes-August-2021.pdf</u>
- López, F. A. (2017). Altering the trajectory of the self-fulfilling prophecy: Asset-based pedagogy and classroom dynamics. *Journal of Teacher Education, 68*(2), 193–212.
- Lucas, B., Claxton, G., & Spencer, E. (2012). *Progression in creativity: Developing new forms of assessment*. Background paper for the OECD Conference, Educating for Innovative Societies. <u>https://www.oecd.org/education/ceri/50153675.pdf</u>

- Lyon, A. R., & Bruns, E. J. (2019). From evidence to impact: Joining our best school mental health practices with our best implementation strategies. *School Mental Health*, *11*(1), 106–114.
- Machell, K., Disabato, D., & Kashdan, T. (2016). Buffering the negative impact of poverty on youth: The power of purpose in life. *Social Indicators Research*, *126*(2), 845–861.
- Machlup, F. (1976). The dismal science and the illth of nations. *Eastern Economic Journal*, 3(2), 59–63. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40324699
- Macpherson, C. B. (1989). Individualism. In J. Eatwell, M. Milgate, & P. Newman (Eds.), *The invisible hand* (pp. 149–155). Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Mahoney, J. L., Weissberg, R. P., Greenberg, M. T., Dusenbury, L., Jagers, R. J., Niemi, K., ... & Yoder, N. (2021). Systemic social and emotional learning: Promoting educational success for all preschool to high school students. *American Psychologist*, 76(7), 1128.
- Malone, T. W., & Bernstein, M. S. (Eds.). (2022). Handbook of collective intelligence. MIT press.
- Marcovitch, S., & Zelazo, P. D. (2009). A hierarchical competing systems model of the emergence and early development of executive function. *Developmental Science*, *12*(1), 1–18.
- Marin, A. M. (2013). *Learning to attend and observe: Parent-child meaning making in the natural world* (Doctoral dissertation, Northwestern University).
- Marin, A. M. (2020). Ambulatory sequences: Ecologies of learning by attending and observing on the move. *Cognition and Instruction*, *38*(3), 281–317.
- Marques, S. C., & Lopez, S. J. (2014). The promotion of hope in children and youth. In G. A. Fava & C. Ruini (Eds.), *Increasing psychological well-being in clinical and educational settings* (pp. 187–197). Springer.
- Martela, F., & Steger, M. F. (2016). The three meanings of meaning in life: Distinguishing coherence, purpose, and significance. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, *11*(5), 531–545.
- Massey, D. S., & Denton, N. A. (2019). American apartheid: Segregation and the making of the underclass. In D. B. Grusky & K. R. Weisshaar (Eds.), *Social stratification* (pp. 660–670). Routledge.
- Matthews, J. S., & López, F. (2019). Speaking their language: The role of cultural content integration and heritage language for academic achievement among Latino children. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *57*, 72–86.
- Maxwell, A., & Shields, T. (2019). *The long southern strategy: How chasing White voters in the South changed American politics*. Oxford University Press.

- Mayo, R., & Osher, D. (2018). Engaging students in creating safe, equitable, and excellent schools. In
   D. Osher, D. Moroney, & S. Williamson (Eds.), *Creating safe, equitable, engaging schools: A* comprehensive, evidence-based approach to supporting students (pp. 87–94). Harvard Education Press.
- McAdams, D. P., & Cox, K. S. (2010). Self and identity across the life span. In M. E. Lamb, A. M. Freund, & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *The handbook of life-span development, Vol 2: Social and emotional development* (pp. 158–207). John Wiley & Sons.
- McAdams, D. P., & McLean, K. C. (2013). Narrative identity. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(3), 233–238.
- McCammon, Susan L. "Systems of care as asset-building communities: Implementing strengths-based planning and positive youth development." *American Journal of Community Psychology* 49 (2012): 556-565.
- McCubbin, L. D., Cristobal, N., & Chin, S. (2021). The case of Kahewai: Indigenous ways of knowing and Kānaka 'Ōiwi well-being. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, *12*(4), 255–264.
- McGee, E., & Spencer, B. M. (2015). Black parents as advocates, motivators, and teachers of mathematics. *The Journal of Negro Education*, *84*(3), 473–490.
- McInerney, P. (2009) Toward a critical pedagogy of engagement for alienated youth: Insights from Freire and school-based research. *Critical Studies in Education, 50*(1), 23–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17508480802526637</u>
- McKnight, J. (1976). *Professionalized services: Disabling help for communities and citizens.* Paper presented at the First annual Symposium on Bioethics of the Clinical Research Institute of Montreal. <u>https://dokumen.tips/documents/professionalized-services-disabling-help-forcommunities-and-citizens-john.html?page=1</u>

McKnight, J. (1995). *The careless society: Community and its counterfeits*. Basic Books.

- McLean, K. C., & Pratt, M. W. (2006). Life's little (and big) lessons: Identity statuses and meaning-making in the turning point narratives of emerging adults. *Developmental Psychology, 42*(4), 714–722.
- McNeely, C. A., Nonnemaker, J. M., & Blum, R. W. (2002). Promoting school connectedness: Evidence from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *Journal of School Health*, 72(4), 138– 146.
- Mehta, J., & Fine, S. (2019). *In search of deeper learning: The quest to remake the American high school*. Harvard University Press.

- Méndez, M., Flores-Haro, G., & Zucker, L. (2020). The (in)visible victims of disaster: Understanding the vulnerability of undocumented Latino/a and indigenous immigrants. *Geoforum*, *116*, 50–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2020.07.007
- Mendoza, M., Blake, J. J., Marchbanks, M. P., III, & Ragan, K. (2020). Race, gender, and disability and the risk for juvenile justice contact. *The Journal of Special Education*, *53*(4), 226–235.
- Merton, R. K. (1968). Social theory and social structure. Simon and Schuster.
- Metzl, J. M., Piemonte, J., & McKay, T. (2021). Mental illness, mass shootings, and the future of psychiatric research into American gun violence. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, *29*(1), 81–89. https://doi.org/10.1097/HRP.00000000000280
- Michelsen, E., Zaff, J. F., & Hair, E. C. (2002). *Civic engagement programs and youth development: A synthesis.* Child Trends. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED476583</u>
- Miller-Cotto, D., & Byrnes, J. P. (2016). Ethnic/racial identity and academic achievement: A meta-analytic review. *Developmental Review*, *41*, 51–70.
- Mills, C. W. (2000). The sociological imagination. Oxford University Press.
- Milner, H. R., IV. (2012). Beyond a test score: Explaining opportunity gaps in educational practice. *Journal of Black Studies*, 43(6), 693–718.
- Milner, H. R., IV. (2013). Analyzing poverty, learning, and teaching through a critical race theory lens. *Review of Research in Education*, *37*(1), 1–53.
- Milner, H. R., IV. (2021). Start where you are, but don't stay there: Understanding diversity, opportunity gaps, and teaching in today's classrooms. Harvard Education Press.
- Miringoff, M.-L. (1996). Dissecting people and ignoring social structure: An analysis of individualism, public policy, and genetic labeling. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 14(4), 433–442.
- Moen, P. E., Elder, G. H., Lüscher, K. E., & Bronfenbrenner, U. (1995). *Examining lives in context: Perspectives on the ecology of human development*. American Psychological Association.
- Molina, N. (2014). *How race is made in America: Immigration, citizenship, and the historical power of racial scripts.* University of California Press.
- Moran, S., & John-Steiner, V. (2004). How collaboration in creative work impacts identity and motivation. In D. Miell, & K. Littleton (Eds.), *Collaborative creativity, contemporary perspectives* (pp. 11–25). Free Associate Books.

Moyer, R., MacDonald, J. M., Ridgeway, G., & Branas, C. C. (2019). Effect of remediating blighted vacant land on shootings: A citywide cluster randomized trial. *American Journal of Public Health*, 109(1), 140–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304752</u>

Mullainathan, S., & Shafir, E. (2013). *Scarcity: Why having too little means so much*. Macmillan.

- Müller, U., Liebermann, D., Frye, D., & Zelazo, P. D. (2008). Executive function, school readiness, and school achievement. In S. K. Thurman & C. A. Fiorello (Eds.), *Applied cognitive research in K-3 classrooms* (pp. 41–83). Routledge.
- Muñoz, C. (2007). Youth, identity, power: The Chicano movement. Verso Books.
- Murry, V. M., & Anderson, R. E. (2020). Introduction to an applied developmental science spotlight series: Social justice frameworks to guide research, preventive interventions, and policies for diverse populations. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(3), 193–195.
- Myrdal, G. (1944). An American dilemma. The Negro problem and modern democracy. Harper.
- Nagaoka, J., Farrington, C. A., Ehrlich, S. B., & Heath, R. D. (2015). *Foundations for young adult success: A developmental framework* (Concept Paper for Research and Practice). University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED559970</u>
- Nasir, N. I. S., Lee, C. D., Pea, R., & McKinney de Royston, M. (2021). Rethinking learning: What the interdisciplinary science tells us. *Educational Researcher*, *50*(8), 557–565. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X211047251
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2019). *The promise of adolescence: Realizing opportunity for all youth*. <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/25388/the-promise-of-adolescence-realizing-opportunity-for-all-youth</u>
- National Research Council. (2000). *How people learn: Brain, mind, experience, and school: Expanded edition*. The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/9853</u>
- National Research Council. (2002). *Community programs to promote youth development*. National Academies Press.
- National Research Council. (2011). *The science of adolescent risk-taking: Workshop report*. National Academies Press. <u>https://nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/12961/the-science-of-adolescent-risk-taking-workshop-report</u>
- National Research Council. (2015). *Transforming the workforce for children birth through age 8: A unifying foundation*. National Academies Press.

- National Scientific Council on Adolescence. (2021). *The intersection of adolescent development and anti-Black racism* (Council Report No. 1). <u>https://developingadolescent.semel.ucla.edu/adolescence-and-anti-black-racism</u>
- Neblett, E. W., & Carter, S. E. (2012). The protective role of racial identity and Africentric worldview in the association between racial discrimination and blood pressure. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 74(5), 509–516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182583a50</u>
- Needleman, J., Buerhaus, P., Mattke, S., Stewart, M., & Zelevinsky, K. (2002). Nurse-staffing levels and the quality of care in hospitals. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *346*(22), 1715–1722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa012247</u>
- Nesselroade, J. R. (2019). Developments in developmental research and theory. *Applied Developmental Science*, *23*(4), 346–348.
- Newman, J., Osher, D., Maroney, D., & Neiman, S. (2022). Thriving matters: Policies and assessment that foster equity and thriving. In S. M. Jones, N. K. Lesaux, & S. P. Barnes (Eds.), *Measuring noncognitive skills in school settings: Assessments of executive function and social-emotional competencies* (pp. 304–330). The Guilford Press.
- Noguera, P., Cammarota, J., & Ginwright, J. (2013). *Beyond resistance! Youth activism and community change*. Routledge.
- Noguera, P., Darling-Hammond, L., & Friedlaender, D. (2015). Equal Opportunity for Deeper Learning. Executive Summary. Deeper Learning Research Series. *Jobs for the Future*.
- Nott, B. D., & Vuchinich, S. (2016). Homeless adolescents' perceptions of positive development: A comparative study. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, *45*(6), 865–886.
- Nussbaum, M. (2003). Capabilities as fundamental entitlements: Sen and social justice. *Feminist Economics*, 9(2–3), 33–59.
- Nussbaum, M. C. (1992). Human functioning and social justice: In defense of Aristotelian essentialism. *Political Theory*, 20(2), 202–46.
- Nussbaum, M. C. (2006). Frontiers of justice: Disability nationality species membership. Belknap Press.
- Oakes, J. (2008). Keeping track: Structuring equality and inequality in an era of accountability. *Teachers College Record*, *110*(3), 700–712.
- Okonofua, J. A., Perez, A. D., & Darling-Hammond, S. (2020). When policy and psychology meet: Mitigating the consequences of bias in schools. *Science Advances*, *6*(42), Article eaba9479.

- Okonofua, J. A., Walton, G. M., & Eberhardt, J. L. (2016). A vicious cycle: A social–psychological account of extreme racial disparities in school discipline. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *11*(3), 381–398.
- Ortega-Williams, A., Wernick, L. J., DeBower, J., & Brathwaite, B. (2018). Finding relief in action: The intersection of youth-led community organizing and mental health in Brooklyn, New York City. *Youth & Society, 52*(4), 618–638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X18758542</u>
- Osher D.A, Cartledge G.W, Oswald D. O, Sutherland K. S, Artiles A. J, & Coutinho M. A. (2004) Cultural and linguistic competency and disproportionate representation. Handbook of research in emotional and behavioral disorders. 54-77.
- Osher, D. (2006). A new way to work on behalf of children, youth, and communities. In D. Fisher, P. Imm, A. Wandersman, & M. Chinman (Eds.), *Getting to outcomes with developmental assets: Ten steps to measuring success in youth programs and communities* (pp. 9–15). Search Institute.
- Osher, D. (2015). The pedagogy of real talk and the promotion of student well-being and success. In P. Hernandez, *The pedagogy of real talk: Engaging, teaching, and connecting with students at risk.* New York, NY: Corwin.
- Osher, D. (2018). Building readiness and capacity. In D. Osher, D. Moroney, & S. Williamson (Eds.), Creating safe, equitable, engaging schools: A comprehensive, evidence-based approach to supporting students (pp. 15–24). Harvard Education Press.
- Osher, D. (2020). *Creativity matters: A conversation with David Osher*. Science of Learning & Development Alliance. <u>https://soldalliance.org/uncategorized/creativity-matters-a-conversation-with-david-osher/</u>
- Osher, D. M. (1992). Soldier citizens for a disciplined nation: Union conscription and the construction of the modern American Army. Columbia University.
- Osher, D. M., Quinn, M. M., & Hanley, T. V. (2002). Children and youth with serious emotional disturbance: A national agenda for success. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 11*(1), 1–11.
- Osher, D., & Boyd, M. (2019). *The intersection of thriving, equity, and human learning*. Paper prepared for the Spencer Foundation Board of Directors.
- Osher, D., & Chasin, E. (2016). Bringing together schools and the community: The case of Say Yes To Education. In J. F. Zaff, E. Pufall Jones, A. E. Donlan, & S. Anderson (Eds.), *Comprehensive community initiatives for positive youth development* (pp. 72–103). Routledge.
- Osher, D., & Hanley, T. V. (1996). Implications of the national agenda to improve results for children and youth with or at risk of serious emotional disturbance. In R. J. Illback & C. M. Nelson (Eds.), *Emerging school-based approaches for children with emotional and behavioral problems: Research and practice in service integration* (pp. 7–36). Routledge.

- Osher, D., & Kendziora, K. (2010). Building conditions for learning and healthy adolescent development. In B. Doll, W. Pfohl, & J. Yoon (Eds.), *Handbook of youth prevention science* (pp. 121–140). Routledge.
- Osher, D., & Young, J. (2020). *Bread and roses too*. Stanford Graduate School of Education, The Equity Alliance. <u>https://equityalliance.stanford.edu/content/bread-and-roses-too</u>
- Osher, D., Bear, G., Sprague, J., & Doyle, W. (2010). How we can improve school discipline. *Educational Researcher*, *39*(1), 48–58.
- Osher, D., Cantor, P., & Caverly, S. (2019). The relational, ecological, and phenomenological foundations of school safety, mental health, wellness, and learning. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (pp. 3–24). Praeger.
- Osher, D., Cantor, P., Berg, J., Rose, T., & Steyer, L. (2017). *The science of learning and development.* American Institutes for Research, Turnaround for Children, The Opportunity Institute, Learning Policy Institute, & Education Counsel.
- Osher, D., Cantor, P., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2020). Drivers of human development: How relationships and context shape learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, 24(1), 6–36.
- Osher, D., Coggshall, J., Colombi, G., Woodruff, D., Francois, S., & Osher, T. (2012). Building school and teacher capacity to eliminate the school-to-prison pipeline. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, *35*(4), 284–295.
- Osher, D., Fisher, D., Amos, L., Katz, J., Dwyer, K., Duffey, T., & Colombi, G. D. (2015). *Addressing the root causes of disparities in school discipline: An educator's action planning guide*. National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments.
- Osher, D., Guarino, K., Jones, W., & Schanfield, M. (2021). *Trauma-sensitive schools and social and emotional learning: An integration*. Penn State College of Health and Human Development, Edna Bennett Pierce Prevention Research Center. <u>https://selcenter.wested.org/resource/trauma-</u> <u>sensitive-schools-and-social-and-emotional-learning-an-integration/</u>
- Osher, D., Kendziora, K., Spier, E., & Garibaldi, M. L. (2014). School influences on child and youth development. In Z. Sloboda & H. Petras (Eds.), *Advances in prevention science, Vol. 1*: In *Defining prevention science* (pp. 151–170). Springer.
- Osher, D., Kidron, Y., Brackett, M., Dymnicki, A., Jones, S., & Weissberg, R. P. (2016). Advancing the science and practice of social and emotional learning: Looking back and moving forward. *Review of Research in Education*, 40(1), 644–681.

- Osher, D., Mayer, M. J., Jagers, R. J., Kendziora, K., & Wood, L. (2019). *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (2 vol.). Praeger.
- Osher, D., Moroney, D., & Williamson, S. (2018). *Creating safe, equitable, engaging schools: A comprehensive, evidence-based approach to supporting students*. Harvard Education Press.
- Osher, D., Pittman, K., Young, J., Smith, H., Moroney, D., & Irby, M. (2020). *Thriving, robust equity, and transformative learning & development: A more powerful conceptualization of the contributors to youth success.* American Institutes for Research & Forum for Youth Investment. <u>https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/Thriving-Robust-Equity%2C-and-Transformative-</u> Learning-and-Development-July-2020.pdf
- Osher, D., Plank, S., Hester, C., & Houghton, S. (2022). The contribution of school and classroom disciplinary practices to the school-to-prison pipeline. In E. J. Sabornie & D. P. Espelage (Eds.), *The handbook of classroom management* (3rd ed., pp. 288–218). Routledge.
- Osher, D., Sprague, J., Weissberg, R. P., Axelrod, J., Keenan, S., Kendziora, K., & Zins, J. E. (2008). A comprehensive approach to promoting social, emotional, and academic growth in contemporary schools. *Best Practices in School Psychology*, *4*, 1263–1278.
- Osher, D., VanAcker, R., Morrison, G. M., Gable, R., Dwyer, K., & Quinn, M. (2004). Warning signs of problems in schools: Ecological perspectives and effective practices for combating school aggression and violence. In R. Skiba, G. Morrison, M. Furlong, & D. G. Cornell (Eds.), *Issues in school violence research* (pp. 13–37). Routledge.
- Osher, D., Williamson, S. K., Kendziora, K., Wells, K., & Sarikey, C. (2019). Interdisciplinary and cross-stakeholder collaboration for better outcomes. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer, R. J. Jagers,
  K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (pp. 389–407). Praeger.
- Osher, T. W., & Osher, D. M. (2002). The paradigm shift to true collaboration with families. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 11(1), 47–60.
- Ozer, E. J. (2016). Youth-led participatory action research: Developmental and equity perspectives. *Advances in Child Development and Behavior, 50,* 189–207.
- Pabayo, R., Grinshteyn, E., Avila, O., Azrael, D., & Molnar, B. E. (2020). Relation between neighborhood socio-economic characteristics and social cohesion, social control, and collective efficacy:
   Findings from the Boston Neighborhood Study. SSM—Population Health, 10, Article 100552.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100552">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100552</a>

- Pages, R., Bailey, D. H., & Duncan, G. J. (2022). *Exploring the "dark matter" of early childhood educational programs: A pattern-of-indirect-effect approach*. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/zubg8
- Pais, J. (2017). Intergenerational neighborhood attainment and the legacy of racial residential segregation: A causal mediation analysis. *Demography*, *54*(4), 1221–1250.
- Paradies, Y., Ben, J., Denson, N., Elias, A., Priest, N., Pieterse, A., ... & Gee, G. (2015). Racism as a determinant of health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS one*, *10*(9), e0138511.
- Paradies, Y., Ben, J., Denson, N., Elias, A., Priest, N., Pieterse, A., Gupta, A., Kelaher, M., & Gee, G. (2015).
   Racism as a determinant of health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS ONE 10*(9), Article e0138511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138511</u>
- Paris, D., & Alim, H. S. (Eds.). (2017). *Culturally sustaining pedagogies: Teaching and learning for justice in a changing world*. Teachers College Press.
- Park, C. L. (2005). Religion as a meaning-making framework in coping with life stress. *Journal of Social Issues*, *61*(4), 707–729.
- Pascoe, M. C., & Parker, A. G. (2019). Physical activity and exercise as a universal depression prevention in young people: A narrative review. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 13(4), 733–739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12737</u>
- Peltason, J. W. (1971). *Fifty-eight lonely men: Southern federal judges and school desegregation* (Vol. 74). University of Illinois Press.
- Perry, R. K. (2020). Targeted universalism in urban communities: Racial discourse and policy rhetoric as harmony. In M. C. Barnes, C. D. B. Walker, & T. M. Williamson (Eds.), *Community wealth building and the reconstruction of American democracy: Can we make American democracy work?* (pp. 199–220). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Philip, T. M., Bang, M., & Jackson, K. (2018). Articulating the "how," the "for what," the "for whom," and the "with whom" in concert: A call to broaden the benchmarks of our scholarship. *Cognition and Instruction*, *36*(2), 83–88.
- Phillips, S. (2022). *How we win the Civil War: Securing a multiracial democracy and ending White supremacy for good*. The New Press.
- Pittman, K. & Irby, M. (2024). Too Essential to Fail: Why our Big Bet on Public Education Needs a Bold National Response. Education Reimagined. <u>https://changingtheoddsremix.com/too-essential-to-fail/</u>
- Pittman, K. (2000). Balancing the equation: Communities supporting youth, youth supporting communities. *Community Youth Development Journal*, 1(1), 33–36.
Pittman, K., & Irby, M. (1996). *Preventing problems or promoting development: Competing priorities or inseparable goals?* Konopka Institute, Department of General Pediatrics and Adolescent Health.

Plessy v. Ferguson, 163 U.S. 537 (1896). https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/us/163/537/

- Porter, A. C. (2002). Measuring the content of instruction: Uses in research and practice. *Educational Researcher*, *31*(7), 3–14.
- Powell, J. A. (2009). Post-racialism or targeted universalism. *Denver University Law Review*, *86*(3), 785–806. <u>https://digitalcommons.du.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1432&context=dlr</u>
- Powell, J. A., & Toppin, E., Jr. (2021). Uprooting authoritarianism: Deconstructing the stories behind narrow identities and building a society of belonging. *Columbia Journal of Race and Law*, 11(1), 1–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.7916/cjrl.v11i1.8019</u>
- Powell, J. A., Ake, W., & Menendian, S. (2019). Targeted Universalism: Policy & Practice.
- Preboth, M. (2000). Surgeon General releases mental health report. American Family Physician, 61(12).
- Quinn, J. (2022). Transforming afterschool programs into "Engines of Development": A policy analysis of the federal 21st Century Community Learning Centers [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. City University of New York.
- Quinn, J., McEachen, J., Fullan, M., Gardner, M., & Drummy, M. (2019). *Dive into deep learning: Tools for engagement*. Corwin Press.
- Rawick, G. P. (1972). From sundown to sunup. Greenwood Publishing.
- Reed, J., & Ones, D. S. (2006). The effect of acute aerobic exercise on positive activated affect: A metaanalysis. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 7(5), 477–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2005.11.003

## References

- Reiter-Palmon, R., & Paulus, P. (2020). Cognitive and social processes in team creativity. In *Creativity and innovation in organizations* (pp. 161–190). Routledge.
- Riddle, T., & Sinclair, S. (2019). Racial disparities in school-based disciplinary actions are associated with county-level rates of racial bias. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(17), 8255–8260.
- Rigolon, A., Browning, M., & Jennings, V. (2018). Inequities in the quality of urban park systems: An environmental justice investigation of cities in the United States. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *178*, 156–169.

Rincón-Gallardo, S. (2019). Liberating learning: Educational change as social movement. Routledge.

- Rivas-Drake, D., & Marchand, A. (2016). Academic socialization among Latino families: Exploring the complementary role of cultural processes. *Research in Human Development*, *13*, 225–240.
- Rivas-Drake, D., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2019). *Below the surface: Talking with teens about race, ethnicity, and identity.* Princeton University Press.
- Rivas-Drake, D., & Witherspoon, D. (2013). Racial identity from adolescence to young adulthood: Does prior neighborhood experience matter? *Child Development*, *84*(6), 1918–1932.
- Rivas-Drake, D., Jagers, R. J., & Martinez, K. J. (2019). Race, ethnicity, and socio-emotional health. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (pp. 113–141). Praeger.
- Rivas-Drake, D., Seaton, E. K., Markstrom, C., Quintana, S., Syed, M., Lee, R. M., Schwartz, S. J., Umaña-Taylor, A. J., French, S., & Yip, T. (2014). Ethnic and racial identity in adolescence: Implications for psychosocial, academic, and health outcomes. *Child Development*, 85(1), 40–57.
- Rivas-Drake, D., Syed, M., Umaña-Taylor, A., Markstrom, C., French, S., Schwartz, S. J., & Lee, R. (2014). Feeling good, happy, and proud: A meta-analysis of positive ethnic-racial affect and adjustment. *Child Development, 85*(1), 77–102.
- Rivera, C. A. (2021, May 1). Transitioning away from social emotional learning programs to a well-being paradigm: *Medium.com*. <u>https://medium.com/transitioning-away-from-social-emotional-learning-programs-to-a-well-being-paradigm-aa8ba6337587</u>
- Rivera, R. C., & Arauz, J. (2019). Understanding and practicing cultural competence in helping youth thrive. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Woo (Eds.), *Keeping students safe* and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness (Vol. 1, pp. 159–182). Praeger.
- Riveros, R., & Immordino-Yang, M. H. (2021). Toward a neuropsychology of spiritual development in adolescence. *Adolescent Research Review*, *6*(3), 323–332.
- Robbins, M. W. (2012). Bread, roses, and other possibilities: The 1912 Lawrence textile strike in historical memory. *Historical Journal of Massachusetts*, 40(1/2), 94.
- Rodríguez-Sánchez, A. M., Hakanen, J., & Salanova, M. (2021). Building efficacy beliefs through team task engagement and past task performance in contemporary teams. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*, *24*(2), 129–142.

- Rogers, L. O. (2019). Commentary on economic inequality: "What" and "who" constitutes research on social inequality in developmental science? *Developmental Psychology*, *55*(3), 586–591.
- Rogers, L. O., & Way, N. (2021). Child development in an ideological context: Through the lens of resistance and accommodation. *Child Development Perspectives*, *15*(4), 242–248.
- Rogers, L. O., Scott, M. A., & Way, N. (2015). Racial and gender identity among Black adolescent males: An intersectionality perspective. *Child Development*, *86*(2), 407–424.
- Rogoff, B., Callanan, M., Gutiérrez, K. D., & Erickson, F. (2016). The organization of informal learning. *Review of Research in Education*, 40(1), 356–401.
- Rose, T. (2016). The end of average: How to succeed in a world that values sameness. Penguin.
- Rothstein, R. (2004). *Class and schools: Using social, economic, and educational reform to close the Black-White achievement gap.* Teachers College Press.
- Rountree, J., & Smith, A. (2016). Strength-based well-being indicators for Indigenous children and families: A literature review of Indigenous communities' identified well-being indicators. *American Indian & Alaska Native Mental Health Research: The Journal of the Centers for American Indian & Alaska Native Health, 23*(3), 206–220.
- Ruus, V. R., Veisson, M., Leino, M., Ots, L., Pallas, L., Sarv, E. S., & Veisson, A. (2007). Students' wellbeing, coping, academic success, and school climate. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 35(7), 919–936.
- Ryan, W. (1972). The art of savage discovery: How to blame the victim. In *Blaming the victim* (pp. 2–30). Vintage.
- Ryan, W. (1982). Equality. Pantheon.
- Ryff, C. D., & Singer, B. (2000). Interpersonal flourishing: A positive health agenda for the new millennium. *Personality & Social Psychology Review*, *4*(1), 30–44.
- Safa, M. D., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2021). Biculturalism and adjustment among U.S. Latinos: A review of four decades of empirical findings. *Advances in Child Development and Behavior, 61*, 73–127.
- Salinger, T., & Mayer, M. J. (2019). Students with school failure trajectories. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer,
  R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A* collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness (Vol. 2, pp. 116–141).
  Praeger.
- Salinger, T., & Osher, D. (2018). Academic interventions—Use with care. In D. Osher, D. Moroney, &
  S. Williamson (Eds.), *Creating safe, equitable, engaging schools: A comprehensive, evidence-based approach to supporting students* (pp. 235–252). Harvard Education Press.

- Salmon, P. (2001). Effects of physical exercise on anxiety, depression, and sensitivity to stress: A unifying theory. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *21*(1), 33–61.
- San Pedro, T. (2021). *Protecting the promise: Indigenous education between mothers and their children*. Teachers College Press.
- Sanchez, N., Norka, A., Corbin, M., & Peters, C. (2019). Use of experiential learning, reflective writing, and metacognition to develop cultural humility among undergraduate students. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 55(1), 75–88.
- Sapp, J., & Cohen, C. (2019). *Let's make a better world: Stories and songs by Jane Sapp*. University of Chicago Press.
- Saroglou, V. (2011). Believing, bonding, behaving, and belonging: The big four religious dimensions and cultural variation. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *42*(8), 1320–1340.
- Satcher, D. (2001). *Mental health: Culture, race, and ethnicity—A supplement to mental health: A report* of the Surgeon General. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20669516/</u>
- Scales, P. C. (2014). Developmental assets and the promotion of well-being in middle childhood. In
  A. Ben-Arieh, T. Casas, I. Frønes, & J. E. Korbin (Eds.), *Handbook of child well-being* (pp. 1649–1678).
- Schrage, M. (1990). Shared minds: The new technologies of collaboration. Random House.
- Schuler, D. (2015). How we may think: The next chapter: Civic intelligence and collective metacognition. *ACM SIGCAS Computers and Society*, *45*(4), 7–14.
- Science of Learning and Development Alliance. (2020). The science of learning and development https://soldalliance.org/work/
- Seaton, E. K., Lida, M., & Morris, K. (2022). The impact of internalized racism on daily depressive symptoms among Black American adolescents. *Adversity and Resilience Science*, *3*, 201–208.
- Sen, A. (1992). Inequality reexamined. Russell Sage Foundation & Harvard University Press.

Sen, A. (2009). The idea of justice. Belknap Press.

- Sennett, R., & Cobb, J. (1993). The hidden injuries of class. W.W. Norton.
- Shek, D. T. L., Yu, L., & Zhu, X. (2016). Evaluation of a leadership and intrapersonal development subject for university students in Hong Kong: Findings based on two years. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development*, 15(1), 101–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/ijdhd-2015-0028</u>

- Sherrod, L. R., & Lauckhardt, J. (2009). The development of citizenship. In R. M. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology* (Vol. 2, pp. 372–407). John Wiley & Sons.
- Shochet, I. M., Dadds, M. R., Ham, D., & Montague, R. (2006). School connectedness is an underemphasized parameter in adolescent mental health: Results of a community prediction study. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *35*(2), 170–179.
- Simonton, D. K. (2000). Creativity: Cognitive, personal, developmental, and social aspects. *American Psychologist*, *55*(1), 151–158.
- Slavich, G. M., & Zimbardo, P. G. (2012). Transformational teaching: Theoretical underpinnings, basic principles, and core methods. *Educational Psychology Review*, 24(4), 569–608.
- Smith, C. D., & Smith Lee, J. R. (2020). Advancing social justice and affirming humanity in developmental science research with African American boys and young men. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(3), 208–214.
- Snauwaert, D. (2011). Social justice and the philosophical foundations of critical peace education: Exploring Nussbaum, Sen, and Freire. *Journal of Peace Education*, 8(3), 315–331.
- Snyder, C. R., Irving, L. M., & Anderson, J. R. (1991). Hope and health. In C. R. Snyder & D. R. Forsyth (Eds.), Handbook of social and clinical psychology: The health perspective (Vol. 162, pp. 285– 305). Pergamon Press.
- Solórzano, D. G., & Huber, L. P. (2020). *Racial microaggressions: Using critical race theory to respond to everyday racism*. Teachers College Press.
- South, E. C., Hohl, B., Kondo, M., MacDonald, J., & Branas, C. (2018). Effect of greening vacant land on mental health of community-dwelling adults: A cluster randomized trial. *JAMA Network Open*, 1(3), Article e180298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.0298</u>
- Southworth, J. (2022). Bridging critical thinking and transformative learning: The role of perspectivetaking. *Theory and Research in Education*, 20(1), 44–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/14778785221090853
- Spencer, M. B. (2017). Privilege and critical race perspectives' intersectional contributions to a systems theory of human development. In N. Budwig, E. Turiel, & P. D. Zelazo (Eds.), New perspectives on human development (pp. 287–312). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09781316282755.016</u>
- Spencer, M. B., & Spencer, T. R. (2014). Invited commentary: Exploring the promises, intricacies, and challenges to positive youth development. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *43*(6), 1027–1035.

- Spencer, M. B., & Swanson, D. P. (2016). Vulnerability and resiliency of African American youth: Revelations and challenges to theory and research. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology: Risk, resilience, and intervention* (Vol. 4, 3rd ed., pp. 334–380). John Wiley & Sons.
- Spencer, M. B., Dupree, D., & Hartmann, T. (1997). A phenomenological variant of ecological systems theory (PVEST): A self-organization perspective in context. *Development and Psychopathology*, 9(4), 817–833.
- Spencer, M. B., Harpalani, V., Cassidy, E., Jacobs, C. Y., Donde, S., Goss, T. N., ... & Wilson, S. (2015). Understanding vulnerability and resilience from a normative developmental perspective: Implications for racially and ethnically diverse youth. *Developmental psychopathology: Volume one: Theory and method*, 627-672.
- Spencer, M. B., Offidani-Bertrand, C., Harris, K., & Velez, G. (2020). Examining links between culture, identity, and learning. In N. S. Nasir, C. D. Lee, R. Pea, & M. McKinney de Royston (Eds.), Handbook of the cultural foundations of learning (pp. 44–61). Routledge.
- Spencer, M., Harpalani, V., Cassidy, E., Jacobs, C. Y., Donde, S., Goss, T. N., Muñoz-Miller, M., Charles, N., & Wilson, S. (2015). Understanding vulnerability and resilience from a normative developmental perspective: Implications for racially and ethnically diverse youth. In D. Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental psychopathology: Theory and method* (Vol. 1, 2nd ed., pp. 627–672). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470939383
- Spier, E., González, R., & Osher, D. (2018). The role of the community in learning and development. In G. Hall (Ed.), *Handbook of teaching and learning* (pp. 79–106). Wiley Blackwell.
- Spier, E., Leenknecht, F., & Osher, D. (2018). Many layers, many dimensions: Building a new science of holistic education. In M. Binder, S. Crowell, J. Miller, K. Nigh, & B. Novack (Eds.), *International handbook on holistic education* (pp. 287–294). Routledge.
- Stasiulis, D., Jinnah, Z., & Rutherford, B. (2020). Migration, intersectionality and social justice—Guest editors' introduction. *Studies in Social Justice*, *14*(1), 1–12.

Steele, D. M., & Cohn-Vargas, B. (2013). Identity safe classrooms: Places to belong and learn. Corwin.

Sternberg, R. J. (1995). Investing in creativity: Many happy returns. *Educational Leadership*, 53(4), 80–84.

- Sternberg, R. J. (2006). The nature of creativity. *Creativity Research Journal*, 18(1), 87–98.
- Stevenson Jr, H. C. (1997). Missed, Dissed, and Pissed": Making Meaning of Neighborhood Risk, Fear and Anger Management in Urban Black Youth. *Cultural Diversity and Mental Health*, *3*(1), 37.
- Stevenson, H. (2014). *Promoting racial literacy in schools: Differences that make a difference*. Teachers College Press.

- Stevenson, H. C., Jr. (1997). Missed, dissed, and pissed: Making meaning of neighborhood risk, fear and anger management in urban Black youth. *Cultural Diversity and Mental Health*, *3*(1), 37–52.
- Stevenson, H. C., McNeil, J. D., Herrero-Taylor, T., & Davis, G. Y. (2005). Influence of perceived neighborhood diversity and racism experience on the racial socialization of Black youth. *Journal* of Black Psychology, 31(3), 273–290.
- Stone, A. A., Krueger, A. B., Stiglitz, J. E., Fitoussi, J-P., & Durand, M. (2018). Understanding subjective well-being. In J. E. Stiglitz, J-P. Fitoussi, & M. Durand (Eds.), For good measure: Advancing research on well-being metrics beyond GDP (pp. 163–201). OECD.
- Subica, A. M., & Link, B. G. (2022). Cultural trauma as a fundamental cause of health disparities. *Social Science & Medicine*, *292*, Article 114574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114574</u>
- Suter, J. C., & Bruns, E. J. (2009). Effectiveness of the wraparound process for children with emotional and behavioral disorders: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 12(4), 336–351.
- Swanson, D. P., Spencer, M. B., Dell'Angelo, T., Harpalani, V., & Spencer, T. R. (2002). Identity processes and the positive youth development of African Americans: An explanatory framework. *New Directions for Youth Development, 2002*(95), 73–99.
- Tarr, B., Launay, J., & Dunbar, R. I. (2014). Music and social bonding: "Self-other" merging and neurohormonal mechanisms. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, Article 1096.
- Task Force on Resilience and Strength in Black Children and Adolescents. (2008). *Resilience in African American children and adolescents: A vision for optimal development*. American Psychological Association.
- Tefera, A. A., Powers, J. M., & Fischman, G. E. (2018). Intersectionality in education: A conceptual aspiration and research imperative. *Review of Research in Education*, 42(1), vii–xvii.
- Thorius, K. A. K., & Tan, P. (2016). Expanding analysis of educational debt. In D. Connor, B. Ferri, & S. A. Annamma (Eds.), *DisCrit: Critical conversations across race, class, and dis/ability* (pp. 87–97). Teachers College Press.
- Tocqueville, A. (2003). Democracy in America: And two essays on America. Penguin UK.
- Toppin, E., Jr. (2021). Health equity and the circle of human concern. AMA Journal of Ethics, 23(2), 166–174.
- Traub, F., & Boynton-Jarrett, R. (2017). Modifiable resilience factors to childhood adversity for clinical pediatric practice. *Pediatrics*, 139(5), Article e20162569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2569</u>

- Treffinger, D. J., Young, G. C., Selby, E. C., & Shepardson, C. (2002). *Assessing creativity: A guide for educators.* National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED505548</u>
- Tsai, C. C. (2012). The development of epistemic relativism versus social relativism via online peer assessment, and their relations with epistemological beliefs and Internet self-efficacy. *Educational Technology & Society*, *15*(2), 309–316.
- Tuason, M. T., Güss, C. D., & Boyd, L. (2021). Thriving during COVID-19: Predictors of psychological well-being and ways of coping. *PloS one*, *16*(3), e0248591.
- Turner, E. H., & Mueller, C. W. (2021). Greater Focus on Strengths is Associated with Successful Discharge in Youth Public Mental Health Treatment. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, *48*, 732-741.
- Turner, N. J. (Ed.). (2020). *Plants, people, and places: The roles of ethnobotany and ethnoecology in Indigenous peoples' land rights in Canada and beyond* (Vol. 96). McGill-Queen's Press.
- Umaña-Taylor, A. J., Quintana, S. M., Lee, R. M., Cross, W. E., Rivas, D. D., Schwartz, S. J., Syed, M.,
  Yip, T., & Seaton, E. (2014). Ethnic and racial identity during adolescence and into young adulthood: An integrated conceptualization. *Child Development*, *85*(1), 21–39.
- Upshaw, T. L., Brown, C., Smith, R., Perri, M., Ziegler, C., & Pinto, A. D. (2021). Social determinants of COVID-19 incidence and outcomes: A rapid review. *PloS one*, *16*(3), e0248336.

Valencia, R. R. (2012). *The evolution of deficit thinking: Educational thought and practice*. Routledge.

Valencia, R. R. (2019). International deficit thinking: Educational thought and practice. Routledge.

- Van Aar, J., Leijten, P., de Castro, B. O., & Overbeek, G. (2017). Sustained, fade-out or sleeper effects? A systematic review and meta-analysis of parenting interventions for disruptive child behavior. *Clinical psychology review*, *51*, 153-163.
- van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. *Nature human behaviour*, *5*(5), 631-652.
- VanderWeele, T. J. (2017). On the promotion of human flourishing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *114*(31), 8148–8156.
- Verhoeven, M., Poorthuis, A. M. G., & Volman, M. (2019). The role of school in adolescents' identity development. A literature review. *Educational Psychology Review*, *31*(1), 35–63.
- Vizenor, G. (2009). Native liberty: Natural reason and cultural survivance. University of Nebraska Press.
- Walker, V. S. (2000). Valued segregated schools for African American children in the South, 1935-1969: A review of common themes and characteristics. *Review of Educational Research*, *70*(3), 253–285.

- Walter, E. V. (1973). Pauperism and illth: An archaeology of social policy. *Sociological Analysis*, *34*(4), 239–254.
- Walton, G. M., & Cohen, G. L. (2007). A question of belonging: Race, social fit, and achievement. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 92(1), 82–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.1.82</u>
- Wang, Y., & Benner, A. D. (2016). Racial/ethnic discrimination and adolescents' well-being: The role of cross-ethnic friends and friends' experiences of discrimination. *Child Development*, 88(2), 493– 504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12606</u>
- Watson, C. B., Chemers, M. M., & Preiser, N. (2001). Collective efficacy: A multilevel analysis. *Personality* and Social Psychology Bulletin, 27(8), 1057–1068.
- Weiss, M. R., Kipp, L. E., & Bolter, N. D. (2012). Training for life: Optimizing positive youth development through sport and physical activity. In S. M. Murphy (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of sport and performance psychology* (pp. 448–475). Oxford University Press.
- Weist, M. D., Domlyn, A. M., & Collins, D. (2023). Enhancing stakeholder engagement, collaboration, and family–school–community partnerships in school mental health. In *Handbook of school mental health: Innovations in science and practice* (pp. 145–152). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Weist, M. D., Shapiro, C. J., Hartley, S. N., Bode, A. A., Miller, E., Huebner, S., Terry, J., Hills, K., & Osher, D. (2019). Assuring strengths- and evidence-based approaches in child, adolescent and school mental health. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (Vol. 2, pp. 54–79). Praeger.
- Welsh, R. O., & Little, S. (2018). The school discipline dilemma: A comprehensive review of disparities and alternative approaches. *Review of Educational Research*, *88*(5), 752–794.
- Wenger, E. (1998). *Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity*. Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511803932</u>
- Wildeman, C., & Wang, E. A. (2017). Mass incarceration, public health, and widening inequality in the USA. *The Lancet*, *389*(10077), 1464–1474.
- Wilkinson, R. G., & Pickett, K. E. (2007a). Child wellbeing and income inequality in rich societies: Ecological cross sectional study. *British Medical Journal*, 335(7629), Article 1080. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39377.580162.55</u>
- Wilkinson, R. G., & Pickett, K. E. (2007b). The problems of relative deprivation: Why some societies do better than others. *Social Science & Medicine*, *65*(9), 1965–1978.

- Wilkinson, R. G., & Pickett, K. E. (2008). Income inequality and socioeconomic gradients in mortality. *American Journal of Public Health, 98*(4), 699–704.
- Williamson, S. K., & Osher, D. (2018). Building a schoolwide foundation for social, emotional, and academic support. In D. Osher, D. Moroney, & S. Williamson (Eds.), *Creating safe, equitable, engaging schools: A comprehensive, evidence-based approach to supporting students* (pp. 135–146). Harvard Education Press.
- Wills, T. A., & Ainette, M. C. (2012). Social networks and social support. In A. Baum, T. A. Revenson, & J. Singer (Eds.), *Handbook of health psychology* (pp. 465–492). Psychology Press.
- Winn, L. T., & Richards-Schuster, K. E. (2019). The importance of child-guided and youth directed approaches engaging youth participatory action research practices. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (Vol. 2, pp. 369–388). Praeger.
- Witherington, D. C., & Lickliter, R. (2017). Transcending the nature-nurture debate through epigenetics. *Human Development*, *60*(2/3), 65–68.
- Yeager, D. S., Purdie-Vaughns, V., Hooper, S. Y., & Cohen, G. L. (2017). Loss of institutional trust among racial and ethnic minority adolescents: A consequence of procedural injustice and a cause of life-span outcomes. *Child Development*, 88(2), 658–676.
- Yoon, S. (2022). Understanding family risk and protective factors that shape child development. *Children*, 9(9), Article 1344.
- Yu, D., Geldhof, G. J., Buckingham, M., Gonçalves, C., Yang, P. J., Michaelson, L. E., Berg, J., Ni, Y., & Lerner, R. M. (2022). "Today, I cared about how a classmate felt": Fluctuations in empathy are linked to daily mood in adolescence. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 79, Article 101386.
- Yu, D., Yang, P. J., Geldhof, G. J., Tyler, C. P., Gansert, P. K., Chase, P. A., & Lerner, R. M. (2020). Exploring idiographic approaches to children's executive function performance: An intensive longitudinal study. *Journal for Person-Oriented Research*, 6(2), 73–87.
- Yu, E., & Cantor, P. (2014). Poverty, stress, schools: implications for research, practice, and assessment. Turnaround for Children. <u>https://turnaroundusa.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/05/Turnaround-for-Children-Poverty-Stress-Schools.pdf</u>
- Ziervogel, G., Cowen, A., & Ziniades, J. (2016). Moving from adaptive to transformative capacity: Building foundations for inclusive, thriving, and regenerative urban settlements. *Sustainability*, 8(9), 1– 20.

## Acknowledgements

This literature review was made possible in part by a grant from the Spencer Foundation. The views expressed are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Spencer Foundation.

The authors acknowledge many of the individuals and organizations who contributed to this document. Michelle Boyd Brown played a key role in authoring earlier papers and drafts that informed this paper, particularly "The Intersection Between Thriving, Equity, And Human Learning." Marita Irby, Jill Young, Deborah Moroney, and Hal Smith contributed to earlier distillations of these ideas. Trina Osher, Jane Sapp, and the late Hubert Sapp helped conceptualize groundedness. Many other friends and colleagues reviewed early versions of our drafts and gave feedback including Sarah Caverly, Monique Chism, Pam Cantor, Tracy Costigan, Linda Darling-Hammond, Kim Dumont, Tracy Gray, Rob Jagers, Rich Lerner, Jesse Newman, Orrin Murray, Scott Palmer, Rashawn Rey, Robert Sherman, Brooke Stafford-Brizard, Karen Francis, Saskia Thompson Levy, Orrin Murray, and Ross Weiner. Our thinking strongly benefited from critical feedback from Megan Bang and Na'ilah Suad Nasir and from ongoing conversations with many colleagues, including Alfredo Artiles, Juliette Berg, Pam Cantor, Linda Darling-Hammond, Vivian Gadsden, Judy Heumann, Carol Lee, Michael Marcus, and Margaret Beale Spencer. Mary Nakashian provided invaluable feedback.

## About the American Institutes for Research

Established in 1946, the American Institutes for Research<sup>®</sup> (AIR<sup>®</sup>) is a nonpartisan, not-for-profit institution that conducts behavioral and social science research and delivers technical assistance both domestically and internationally in the areas of education, health, and the workforce. AIR's work is driven by its mission to generate and use rigorous evidence that contributes to create a better, more equitable world. With headquarters in Arlington, Virginia, AIR has offices across the U.S. and abroad. For more information, visit AIR.ORG.



AIR<sup>®</sup> Headquarters 1400 Crystal Drive, 10th Floor Arlington, VA 22202-3289 +1.202.403.5000 | AIR.ORG

Notice of Trademark: "American Institutes for Research" and "AIR" are registered trademarks. All other brand, product, or company names are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners.

Copyright © 2023 American Institutes for Research<sup>®</sup>. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, website display, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of the American Institutes for Research. For permission requests, please use the Contact Us form on <u>AIR.ORG</u>.